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INTRODUCTION

The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) was established under the Canterbury
Earthquake Recovery Act 2011 to assist with the Government's response to the devastating
Canterbury earthquakes of 2010 and 2011. After five years of operation, CERA was disestablished
on 18 April 2016.

Within CERA, the Implementation/Central City Development Unit (CCDU) set out to drive the
rebuild of central Christchurch. The Investment Strategy group sat within that unit and was
responsible for retaining, promoting and attracting investment in Christchurch.

In early 2017, investigative journalist Martin van Beynen published a series of articles on alleged
conflicts of interest within CERA and CCDU. Due to the serious allegations raised, the State Services
Commissioner appointed me to undertake this Inquiry on his behalf on 7 February 2017 pursuant
to sections 23(1) and 25(2) of the State Sector Act 1988. The terms of reference are attached as
Appendix 1 and the Prime Minister’s letter (and discussion on jurisdiction) is Appendix 2.

The Inquiry focused on Murray Cleverley, Simon Nikoloff and Gerard Gallagher (the subjects) each
of whom worked for CERA in the Implementation/CCDU. | was asked to investigate:

(a) whether they had any actual or perceived conflicts of interest during their employment
at CERA or their subsequent State services employment or governance roles;

(b) the management of any such conflicts of interest by them and State services agencies;
and
(c) any other related matter arising from the course of the investigation that ought to be

considered to provide the State Services Commissioner with a complete report.

The State Services Commissioner requested an interim report by 28 February 2017. That timeframe
meant that the Inquiry had to focus on specific activities involving Mr Cleverley, Mr Gallagher and
Mr Nikoloff, their association with a company called Project and Investment Management Limited
(PIML) and (in the case of Mr Cleverley only) the Canterbury DHB and property at 32 Oxford Terrace.

The interim report was provided on 28 February 2017. It recorded the results of the Inquiry to that
date. A draft final report (with preliminary conclusions) was provided for comment on 10 March
2017. Comments and further material were received from Mr Cleverley on 13 March 2017 and
from Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff on 27 March 2017.

The terms of reference covered conflicts of interest of the subjects during their subsequent State
services employment. In the case of Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher that was their employment with
Otakaro. Each provided me with information as to an investigation by Otakaro in 2016 and noted
that no disciplinary action resulted.

| was provided with information from SSC as to a further process being followed by Otakaro (which
both men are aware of). The Otakaro process related to the current employment of Mr Nikoloff
and Mr Gallagher. Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher objected to reference to this further process and
stated it was a separate inquiry.

To avoid duplication and in fairness to Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher, | advised in the draft report

that it was preferable for the Otakaro process to deal with the issues which are relevant to their
current employment. It is not necessary for the Commissioner (through me) to duplicate that
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process as part of this inquiry. Otakaro will in due course have access to this report if it is of
relevance.

1.10 For those reasons, | have not relied on any material provided to me by SSC relating to the Otakaro
process in reaching my findings or conclusions in this report.

1.11 In relation to Mr Cleverley and Otakaro, | have reviewed the material provided to me to see if it has
any bearing on my preliminary conclusions (provided to Mr Cleverley). | have considered whether
any mention of Mr Cleverley in documents or emails belonging to Otakaro are relevant to my
conclusions. | have concluded they are not and therefore have not sought any comment from Mr
Cleverley on that matter.

1.12 Additional information as to the process | followed is contained in Appendix 3.
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2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS
CERA and PIML

The applicable standards for conflicts of interest required Mr Cleverley, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff
to ensure they could fulfil their employment obligations without being affected by personal interests.
They could not be involved in activity which might conflict with their responsibilities and were
required to get prior written consent to any outside activity. Each had to declare potential conflicts.
If they were unsure, they should declare, so that the CERA chief executive could decide.

By September 2014, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff had a conflict of interest in relation to PIML that
required disclosure. They were aware it was a conflict but did not disclose it.

Overall, there was a serious and sustained breach of the applicable standards for which a disciplinary
process would ordinarily follow. In particular, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff’s use of PIML and
another company for personal gain in CERA-related matters and their omission to disclose this to Mr
Wells and CERA.

Whilst | considered whether the conduct might involve provisions of the Crimes Act, it was not my
role to reach a view on that. One option is for this report be made available to the Serious Fraud
Office and the Director can determine whether the conduct (and any other relevant conduct) is
worthy of investigation. There are factors which mitigate against this being criminal conduct.

Mr Cleverley did not know the extent of the activities of Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher (through
PIML). He was not aware of the conflict (although he ought to have been). | accept that he thought
the substantive activities of PIML were intended to be post-CERA.

Mr Cleverley did not take sufficient care to ensure that either a conflict did not arise through PIML
or that the potential for conflict was disclosed. He made an error of judgement in that respect.

The environment CERA operated in was challenging and its employees faced a difficult task
particularly as it moved into the reconstruction phase. The question arises as to whether a
government entity such as this, established for a finite time with such a commercial operating
context, ought to have a different approach to conflict management. | have only seen a very small
snapshot of CERA activity and cannot reasonably draw inferences from that alone.

| recommend SSC consider whether the usual approach to conflict management ought to be modified
for such organisations. The Auditor-General’s recommendations and the Case Study provide general
background material. The findings of the Auditor-General support the suggestion that proactive
conflict management by CERA was unlikely to be occurring.

On my limited review, however, it seemed to me that the HR processes of CERA were adequate in
respect to conflict management. The documentation | saw, whilst not complete, did cover the matter
of conflicts in an orthodox manner.

Mr Cleverley, Canterbury DHB and Oxford Terrace

Mr Cleverley was entitled to take the position he did in respect to Canterbury DHB, Silverfin and 32
Oxford Terrace. The choice of becoming a director in Silverfin and continuing to hold that
directorship in the circumstances is a matter of judgement for Mr Cleverley. The inclination of the
public service is to take a more cautious approach. The less cautious approach tends to draw
criticism and Mr Cleverley must bear responsibility for that.

The DHB, the Ministry of Health and State Services managed the situation appropriately and
proactively at each stage.
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3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

APPLICABLE STANDARDS

The State Services Commissioner determined it necessary to inquire into the allegations made in
the media to determine whether the State Services Standards of Integrity and Conduct, or other
relevant applicable standards have been observed. This section discusses the standards of conduct
applicable with further detail provided in Appendix 4.

The primary source of the detailed rules around conflicts of interest are found in the terms of the
relevant employment contracts. Parallel and additional rules can be found in the CERA Policies and
the CERA Code of Conduct. The relevant provisions are cited in Appendix 4. The CERA Policies and
the Code of Conduct do not make a material difference to the applicable standards in the
circumstances involved here.

In summary, the subjects were required:

o To ensure their actions were not affected by personal interests or relationships;

. Not to enter another employment agreement or outside activity which could conflict with
their employment obligations or prejudice their ability to perform their duties or bring
CERA into disrepute;

. Only enter another employment agreement or outside activity with the prior written
agreement of the Chief Executive;
. To declare an outside activity which could pose a conflict —that is an outside activity which

might interfere with their ability to fulfil their employment obligations. If there was
uncertainty, they should declare.

Mr Gallagher had two Fixed term employment contracts (FTC's) with CERA. One FTC commenced
on 17 February 2014 and was intended to terminate on 18 April 2016. It was superseded by an FTC
on 19 January 2015 (again, terminating on 18 April 2016). Mr Gallagher was employed as an
Investment Facilitator.

The purpose of that role was to ensure the key work of the Investment Strategy group was delivered
in a manner that contributed to the wider work of the investment team and the work programme
of the CCDU and CERA. An Investment Facilitator was accountable (amongst other things) for
developing and leading engagement processes with the investment community; and coordinating
and presenting information to investment parties, interest groups and the public. Each facilitator
was expected to apply their extensive private and public sector experience to ensure Central
Christchurch was reinvested in a timely and efficient manner. The role was described to me as
being a “marriage broker” for investment in the central city. Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff stressed
the importance of working with and developing their networks and that they could carry on their
own private activity as long as it did not conflict with CERA’s interests.

Mr Nikoloff also had an FTC with CERA as an Investment Facilitator. His agreement commenced on
10 March 2014 and was intended to terminate on 18 April 2016. On 16 January 2015 Mr Nikoloff
signed a variation to his FTC that took effect from 22 December 2014 but the relevant terms and
conditions remained unchanged.

Mr Cleverley was initially engaged by CERA on short-term contract roles. He then had two FTC's
with CERA. The first on 11 February 2013 was for the position of Investment Facilitator. Later in
the year, Mr Cleverley was appointed as General Manager, Greater Christchurch Investment
Strategy in Implementation/CCDU and entered a further FTC on 28 October 2013. This was a tier
3 position which reported to a Deputy CEO. Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff were business associates
and friends of Mr Cleverley before they commenced employment at CERA. That is relevant to the
conclusions | reach.
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3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

Mr Cleverley said to me that initially (2013) he was contracted for three days a week reporting to
Ms McBreen-Kerr. Then he said when he took the General Manager role it was four days a week
and he was an employee of CERA rather than a contractor. He obtained permission from the
Minister of Health to be an employee of the Crown whilst at the same time being chair of two DHB’s
(South Canterbury and Canterbury). Mr Cleverley stressed to me that he was an appointed chair
of the DHB’s, first South Canterbury and then later Canterbury. He stressed that he was appointed
for his proven commercial and governance experience, as opposed to being elected to the position
of Chair.

The role of Mr Cleverley’s team was to retain, promote and attract investment in greater
Christchurch by ensuring the investment sector was well informed about the Christchurch Central
Recovery Plan and the opportunity for investment in greater Christchurch. Mr Cleverley was
responsible for developing and implementing the investment strategy for Greater Christchurch
Anchor and Catalyst (non-Anchor) projects. He led a team of Managers and Investment Facilitators
in the delivery of Investment and Philanthropic programmes of work across greater Christchurch.
Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff were in his team but at the relevant times reported to a manager (Ms
Sheila McBreen-Kerr) who in turn reported to Mr Cleverley.

Mr Cleverley (through his lawyer) submitted:

“At all times Mr Cleverley had multiple other commitments. He accepted these positions as
short term fixed term contracts. No conditions were applied to him as to his withdrawal
from any of his other extensive public and private sector commitments (nor would he have
taken the positions if that had been required). His contract at page 17 explicitly refers to the
requirements for his role (knowledge and experience) as including his "extensive networks

"o

and well-developed networks in the business sector".

| accept this as far as it goes. However, | do not think it is particularly relevant to the situation with
PIML which was not an existing commitment and was undeclared. Nor does the requirement to
have extensive or well-developed networks mean that the conflict rules changed. Arguably, it
required more care to be taken.

Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher stated that they understood they could take on new commitments
as long as these did not conflict with CERA’s interests. | do not accept it was as simple as that, nor
do the documents or contracts support that interpretation.

Mr Cleverley formally left employment of CERA at the end of January 2015 although he explained
that in fact he ceased work in December 2014 and utilized accumulated leave. He came in to the
office on only two days in January 2015 (effectively to clear his desk). His role with CERA was
substantially complete in December 2014.

Both Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher were recruited into the employment of the CERA successor
agency, Otakaro Limited. They state the recruitment process was rigorous, open and contestable,
and included extensive interviews, police checks, full interest disclosures and reference checking.
As stated above, that is not something | am inquiring into.

Mr Cleverley stated to me:

“Our task was to do all that we could to stimulate and facilitate the redevelopment of
Christchurch, especially in relation to properties which required repair or new construction
but which were in private ownership. Both | and my team were selected for our knowledge
and proven experience in property and business development. We were not required to
withdraw from our existing business activities (and it was made plain by senior management
that we should ensure that we were able to go back to that when CERA ceased to exist); but
we were required to separate our personal activities from CERA activities. | did that at all
times and my instructions to my team and my management of it applied that.”
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3.16

3.17

3.18

3.19

3.20

3.21

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff accepted Mr Cleverley gave this instruction. They stated that Mr
Cleverley was aware of their activities and did not challenge them or require them to formally
declare a conflict. | will discuss this further below. They further stated to me:

“We do not believe that we have breached our obligations in terms of conflicts of interests
or perceived conflicts of interests:

a. We did not use our position to obtain a financial reward;

b. When we were employed, we were open about our private business interests and
were told these could continue;

c. We kept our private interests and our CERA duties separate;

d. We did not use confidential information of CERA to our personal advantage;

e. We were transparent about our dealings which were approved by in-house
counsel at CERA; and

f. We were investigated in 2016 by our current employer, Otakaro, in respect of our

business dealings and possible conflicts of interests and the matter did not
proceed to disciplinary action.”

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff further stated:

“When we commenced with CERA, this was on the basis of a recruitment process which had
identified our private and public sector experience, capability and relationships. Our
employer knew about Gerard's company: Gallagher Grant Limited and Simon's business
consultancy: Strategic Advantage Business Advisors. At no time was there any concern
about us continuing to operate these private businesses. On the contrary, the reason we
were employed was because CERA wanted our experience and networks from the private
sector. It was not in CERA's interests for us to stop this private work and we needed to
maintain it because our work with CERA was for a fixed term. All of this was open and
transparent.”

Each of the subjects submitted they were not aware of the CERA Code of Conduct. Mr Cleverley
stated further that it was not attached to his contract. The FTC refers to the State Services Code of
Conduct and Mr Cleverley undertook to operate consistently with that. The FTC also refers to the
Code of Conduct (presumably the CERA one although not stated). In Mr Cleverley’s acceptance of
employment it refers to the Code of Conduct being attached. | have checked with the Department
of Prime Minister and Cabinet and am not able to ascertain whether the CERA Code was actually
attached. | accept Mr Cleverley’s assertion on this and do not think anything turns on whether he
knew of the CERA Code of Conduct or not. In similar fashion, | do not think the CERA Code of
Conduct makes a difference to the position of Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff.

Each of Mr Cleverley, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff completed conflicts of interest forms. Each of
those forms contained this wording immediately above their signature:

“If the information | have provided above changes in any material way, | will update the
information as soon as reasonably possible.”

On 16 January 2014 Mr Gallagher disclosed no conflicts of interest in his CERA Confidentiality,
Integrity and Conduct Declaration form (CERA CIC Form). Mr Gallagher stated that he understood
he had no conflicts to declare.

On 3 March 2014 Mr Nikoloff disclosed the following interests in his CERA CIC Form:
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Description of interest | Date(s) of interest Value of the interest | Other relevant
(where applicable) information

Board Advisory. Current $ 100 - $500

Board positions

Consultant relationship. | Current EQ Rebuild workers

Grow Mid Canterbury accom

+ Hot Pools Project

Consultancy Current Various small business
relationships relationships of general
nature

Solar Equip importation | Current
Business

3.22 On 7 May 2012 Murray Cleverley disclosed the following interests in his CERA CIC Form:

Description of interest | Date(s) of interest Value of the interest | Other relevant
(where applicable) information

SCDHB Chair

CREDS Director

3.23 On 23 October 2012 Murray Cleverley disclosed the following interests in his CERA CIC Form:

Description of interest | Date(s) of interest Value of the interest | Other relevant
(where applicable) information

Chair of SCDHB Current

Director of KCL Property | Current Some property under

Management in Chch

Project Adviser to Grow | Current They are doing a project
Mid Canterbury of Workers
Accommodation in

Ashburton & Methven

3.24 On 11 February 2013 Murray Cleverley disclosed the following interests in his CERA CIC Form:

Description of interest | Date(s) of interest Value of the interest | Other relevant
(where applicable) information
Director KCL Current Property Syndication &

property mng

Chair of SCDHB Current Director

Director NZ Chamber of | 1999-2012
Commerce
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3.25

3.26

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

3.31

3.32

The first two declarations relate to the period he was a contractor and the final one coincides with
the first FTC. No further declaration appears to have been made (or kept) in relation to Mr
Cleverley’s role as Manager and the second FTC.

A CERA Conflicts of Interest register that was provided to the Inquiry recorded the following
conflicts for Mr Cleverley:

(a) Chair of SCDHB
(b) Director of RCL Property
(c) Project adviser to Grow Mid Canterbury.

The same register did not record any conflicts for Mr Gallagher or Mr Nikoloff.

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff submitted that they did not receive the CERA Policies and Code of
Conduct referred to in Appendix 4 nor did they get training in them. | accept that for the purposes
of this report primarily because | do not think it is sufficiently relevant to make the further inquiries
to determine that issue.

There is another aspect to the issue of conflicts which | refer to as the culture and context of CERA
and its employees. Each of the subjects and others interviewed talked about this. Reference has
already been made to the expectation that private interests would be maintained and that
employees were regularly reminded of the need to be prepared to return to the private sector.

This was consistent with the short-term nature of CERA (2011 through until early 2016) and the skill
set required for investment facilitators. Mr Gallagher, Mr Nikoloff and Mr Cleverley each referred
to this in statements to me (refer above, paragraphs 3.15 to 3.17). 9(_2)(3) a colleague, put it
this way: T

“CERA Upper Management acted as good employers and always made it clear that we had
to look after ourselves as employees. We were only there for a short amount of time, so
everyone needed to look at future roles inside and outside of the organisation as well as
other jobs, and we were encouraged to main external contacts up for when CERA ceased to
exist.”

| acknowledge also the Auditor-General’s report into CERA? and the comments contained in it
regarding potential confusion around policies and procedures. In summary, the Auditor-General
stated:

However, it took a long time for CERA to set up effective systems and controls, which meant
that staff had to work in a challenging environment without the usual back-office support
and controls that we expect in a public entity. CERA's management controls and
performance information needed improvement right up to the time of its disestablishment.

The Auditor-General further stated?:

The time it took to establish robust controls and policies created a risky environment,
particularly in the emergency phase of the recovery. This meant that CERA’s staff were
engaged in challenging tasks, many of which involved transactions of significant value,
without being able to refer to signed-off policies and procedures. CERA was slow in

1

9(2)(a) statement paragraph 31
CHRA: Assessing its effectiveness and efficiency: Presented to the House of Representatives January 2017
Paragraph 2.11
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3.33

3.34

3.35

3.36

3.37

3.38

establishing delegation policies, which meant that some financial decisions took longer than
necessary.

Mr Cleverley submitted that the Auditor-General findings about weaknesses in internal processes
in CERA (including the CCDU) were relevant to my inquiry. He submitted that the Auditor-General’s
findings were also relevant to the appropriate way of undertaking an entrepreneurial commercial
initiative such as the CCDU was tasked with.

The Auditor-General noted, however, that CERA had a high number of employees in the Human
Resources area and spent more than equivalent agencies on this. On my limited review, it seemed
to me that the human resource processes of CERA were adequate (although not complete) and the
documentation | saw covered the matter of conflicts in an orthodox manner. The Auditor-General’s
report does not appear to contain anything directly relevant to the management of conflicts of
interest within CERA.

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff submitted that they were expected to work their own connections
and networks for the Christchurch recovery. They submitted there was an inherent conflict of
interest in the role, including receiving information from investors and property owners, and using
their experience and reputation to share that information where appropriate.

Each subject relied on the CERA Case Study: Working with the private sector to redevelop
Christchurch’s central city? as providing relevant context. That document relevantly states:

CCDU needed staff who understood the private sector, could speak their language and grow
effective relationships with them. These staff also needed to understand and work within
government processes and translate these for the private sector.

As investment facilitators needed to understand the needs of businesses, developers and
investors, many came from financial or commercial backgrounds.

The role of investment facilitators was to help remove some of the transaction costs in the
market. They connected developers or investors with the people who needed them and they
gathered information to help the private sector plan ahead, such as by finding out about
when utilities would be connected.

CCDU staff had to handle commercially sensitive information that they learnt through their
work. In such situations, they had to find a way of providing as much information as possible
to help understand the progress of recovery without jeopardising commercially sensitive
processes.

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff further submitted that the impact of the refusal by the Minister to
sign off the Greater Christchurch Investment Strategy meant they had difficulty in identifying the
pathway to attracting investment into the central city and to do their job effectively. They
emphasised the complex commercial environmental issues highlighted in the Case Study. They
submitted that the highly dysfunctional state of the central city commercial environment in 2014,
including the lack of investment ready opportunity, large scale investor flight, lack of investor buy-
in to the Blue Print, the poor reputation of CERA and the financial uncertainty surrounding the
Christchurch City Council all were relevant considerations.

| accept that the environment was a challenging one and that CERA and its employees faced a
difficult task particularly as it moved into the reconstruction phase. | also accept that the findings
of the Auditor-General support the suggestion that more proactive management of conflicts of
interest by CERA was unlikely to be occurring.

4

EQ Recovery Learning document published 18 April 2016
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3.39

3.40

3.41

3.42

Beyond that, | do not see the Auditor-General’s findings or the CERA Case Study or the commercial
environment generally as significant to the management of conflicts of interest of this nature in
these circumstances. There is nothing in the Auditor-General’s findings or the CERA Case Study to
support a conclusion that conflicts of interest should have been (or were) managed in other than
the orthodox way (in accordance with the applicable standards as described here).

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff submit that others employed by CERA had significant private sector
interests and dealings. They provided examples. That is something which DPMC (as successor to
CERA) or Otakaro may wish to examine further. | am not able to inquire into those matters,
including whether those interests involved a conflict, were declared and/or were authorised.

The question arises as to whether a government organisation such as this, established for a finite
time with the context referred to above ought to have a different approach to conflict
management. | have only seen a very small snapshot of CERA activity and cannot reasonably draw
inferences from that alone.

| recommend that consideration is given by SSC to whether the usual approach to conflicts (and the

management of them) ought to be modified for such organisations. The Auditor-General’s
recommendations and the Case Study provide general background material.
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4. DISCUSSION —PIML ®

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff

In early April 2014 Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff referred to the property at 159 Hereford St and
the YHA property (Manchester St) in their weekly CERA Investor Relations reports. BVL04.002/4.
The fact the YHA property was for sale was apparently well-known.

On 20 May 2014 Mr Clarke of CERA introduced Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff to the CEO of YHA,
Mr Wells. The email set out that YHA were interested in the development of a new facility and that
Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff may have information useful in identifying a site or building. Mr Wells
responded that he would contact them the following week. Contact followed and a meeting was
arranged. BVL01.001/2.

In July 2014 Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher appear to have agreed with Mr Cleverley to set up PIML.
BVL02.001.

Also in July, Mr Gallagher drafted a letter to the owners of 209 High Street proposing that PIML
purchase that property. The letter followed an earlier draft that was sent to Mr Nikoloff. In his
letter Mr Gallagher stated “in case of any potential conflict, | have declared this interest to my
employer CERA”. The letter contains a detailed purchase proposal by PIML. BVL02.002/5.

At interview, Mr Gallagher was unable to point to evidence that he had declared this interest to his
employer (save as further discussed below). No one has identified a document where either Mr
Gallagher or Mr Nikoloff or Mr Cleverley record or declare their interest in PIML while employed by
CERA. Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher submit that they have not had access to all their CERA emails
and that all parties are reliant on the software search to produce relevant correspondence. | accept
that point. They express concern there are other emails which might exist to further illuminate the
events under investigation and this is not fair. | have to deal with what has been recovered by
thorough forensic search. The position remains that no such document (email or otherwise) has
been identified.

On 13 August 2014 PIML was incorporated with Mr Nikoloff as the sole director. The shareholders
were Mr Nikoloff, Mr Gallagher and Mr Cleverley. Each signed a consent to be a shareholder.
BVL01.003/10.°

On the same day, there is an outlook calendar appointment at 3pm organised by Mr Cleverley with
invitees Mr Nikoloff, Mr Gallagher and another CERA employee 9(2)(2) . The meeting may
have been about PIML. Mr Cleverley accepted this was likely but he did not recall it. BVL03.001

A further meeting on 3 September 2014 appears to have been held. Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff
supplied minutes of that meeting which were headed “PIMCO Meeting Notes”. The minutes were
sent on 4 September to each of the subjects and 9(2)(3) They primarily deal with the company
structure and Kennett House, but go on to talk about other projects including the YHA site.

On 4 September 2014 Mr Nikoloff sent an email to Mr Wells (YHA) copied to Mr Gallagher which
said:

The references to BVL are to the numbering of the Beattie Varley Limited documents identified as such and
made available on dropbox.
I note that Mr Nikoloff also incorporated a subsidiary of PIML. Mr Cleverley was unaware of this.
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4.10

411

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

Good morning Mark,

Following on from our conversation earlier today and meeting a few weeks back, | confirm
we

are working with a party who have expressed interest in purchasing this building.

The party are serious, commercially experienced buyers and will complete their due
diligence

expediently. Terms and conditions are expected to be minimal, i.e. subject to engineering
reports and usual due diligence. BVL01.012/14

Mr Nikoloff gave further details and invited Mr Wells to contact him. Mr Wells responded saying
he was interested in meeting to discuss.

Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher then emailed each other to agree on the next steps including Mr
Gallagher meeting with Mr Wells. The emails appear to be uncertain as to who the investor was.
For example, Mr Nikoloff emailed Mr Gallagher (in relation to Mr Wells) “He’s left a message and
he’s as keen as. Not sure what to do from here.” Mr Gallagher responded:

“Well. Mmmmm. How about | meet with him. I’'m happy to do that and say that it is too
short notice for the investor to meet and just convince him that we/they are serious. Maybe
say the investor is from Ashburton and not available. | could ask [name redacted for the
purposes of this report] if | could use his name and profile. What do you think?”
BVL01.012/014

It appears to me from the emails and interviews that Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher either did not
have a specific investor at that time or intended to keep the identity of any investor secret for their
own purposes. Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher said at interview that this was because of the
reluctance of the investor to disclose their identity and that was not unusual in this kind of
transaction.

In my view the documents suggest that Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher were misrepresenting the
position as to either the existence of an investor or the identity of the investor. Mr Nikoloff and Mr
Gallagher submit that is wrong and upon further review and recollection have provided more detail
as to the investors involved and the position of PIML. | have considered that and do not think it
materially changes the position. The emails speak for themselves. That said, | accept their points
that they were trying to get investors, they did contact a range of possible investors and that PIML
was not intended to be the ultimate owner of the property.

After advising Mr Wells that he would try and contact the investor and then advising the next day
that he could not do so, Mr Gallagher met with Mr Wells on 5 September 2014 (at the CERA
premises) and signed a Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement. He signed as follows:

“Gerard Gallagher — Representing an Investor
Investment Facilitator
CERA — CCDU”

BVL01.015/018 and BVL01.019/025

Mr Gallagher advised Mr Wells that the investor was happy for Mr Gallagher to sign the
confidentiality agreement on the investor’s behalf. BVL01.019/025. At interview, Mr Gallagher and
Mr Nikoloff were not clear as to the precise identity of the investor and the possibilities raised by
them did not sit easily with the contemporaneous documents. Those documents suggest there
may not have been a specific investor at that time.
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On 8 September Mr Gallagher emailed a potential investor (the one discussed in paragraph 4.11
above) introducing the YHA investment opportunity and asked to set up a meeting. The potential
investor agreed to meet the next day. BVL01.026/28

Later that day, Mr Gallagher prepared and sent a Ministerial Weekly Status Report which contains
reference to the YHA transaction and that he was to meet with the investor for “a decision on
uptake”. BVL01.029/030. It named the company of the potential investor who confirmed to me
that he was interested at one stage in the process. It is evident that Mr Gallagher considered this
aspect as CERA business (by virtue of including it in the Ministerial report).

On 9 September Mr Gallagher emailed Mr Wells (copy to Mr Nikoloff) saying that “our investor will
now proceed with DD [due diligence]”. On the same day Mr Gallagher sent himself a task list for
the YHA property including the role of PIML. BVL01.031/038

The next day Mr Gallagher approached his potential investor to ascertain his interest in the
property (this was the same person that he and Mr Nikoloff had discussed using the name and
profile of).

On 15 September, Mr Gallagher communicated with the potential investor and asked him if the
investor’s brother might be interested in the YHA opportunity. He also prepared another Ministers
Weekly Status Report and noted his investors name in it. BVL01.039/043.

On 18 September Mr Gallagher advised Mr Wells that the investor’s lawyer, Lane Neave, were
preparing a sale and purchase agreement for the Manchester Street property. At the same time,
Mr Gallagher instructed Lane Neave to prepare the sale and purchase agreement in the name of a
shelf company (initially YHA Investments, then ultimately Manchester St 273 Limited).
BVL01.044/061

As at this point, the documents suggest that Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff did not have a specific
investor (as represented to Mr Wells), rather they instructed Lane Neave to form a company which
would enter into a sale and purchase agreement with Mr Wells (YHA). The impression given to Mr
Wells was that the investor was a specific (but anonymous) party distinct from Mr Gallagher/Mr
Nikoloff.

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff stated to me”’:

“We instructed our lawyers to create a company to put in an offer to preserve the position
so we could get due diligence out to the investors. The company was Manchester St 273
Limited. We used a vehicle common to many commercial transactions which is to have a
lawyer set up a company. This was because we did not have the investors on board to set
up a company and we were not ever going to be the purchasers. The investors were to be
the purchasers. We hoped we could then offer project management services.”

They further stated?:

“We are confident we spoke with Mark Wells about our involvement in September 2014, to
see if he would have any objection to us becoming involved as project managers.
Unfortunately, we have not found anything in writing to confirm this. We know we talked
with him about it and we know that his only concern was to get the sale.”

Paragraph 43
Paragraph 47
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Mr Wells denied this occurred. He said he was not made aware that the purchaser company was
in fact established by Nikoloff/Gallagher. Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher reiterate to me they did
tell him of their involvement at least in respect to project management.

| do not accept Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher’s account in this respect. The chronology and
documents suggest that the identity of the investor was initially kept from Mr Wells and that Mr
Nikoloff/Mr Gallagher were attempting to inject their own company into the transaction to advance
their personal interests (without Mr Wells being aware of that). |1 do accept, however, that they did
have potential investors, did later let Mr Wells (through his lawyer) know the identity of some of
those, and PIML was not going to be the ultimate owner of the property (although PIML may have
held a share of the ownership).

The purpose of establishing and using Manchester St 273 Limited was further demonstrated by the
“YHA flyer” (BVL01.071/73.) sent by Mr Nikoloff to another potential investor. The flyer said “Our
investment company PIMco has the contract on the building.”

By this stage (at the latest), having been introduced to Mr Wells in a CERA capacity and now seeking
to advance their personal interests (through PIML), Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher had an actual
conflict of interest which required disclosure. Such an activity required the prior written agreement
of the CEO of CERA or their delegate.® Neither Mr Wells nor CERA was aware of PIML’s involvement
or that Gallagher and Nikoloff were behind it and Manchester St 273 Limited.

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff submit that their “purpose was to get a sale of the YHA through
investment partners and to create a project management vehicle” for themselves. They submit
they did not perceive a conflict of interest and they believed their interests were aligned with
CERA’s. This is difficult to reconcile with other evidence, in particular Mr Gallagher’s recognition
of a possible conflict involving the High Street property (refer paragraph 4.4 above), the
conversation with Mr Dale below nor with the experience and expertise of these two men. It is
more likely, in my view, that they chose to keep the activities of PIML unknown to the CERA
executive in their own interests.

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff through their lawyer submitted to me that:

“..our clients’ have told us about a meeting they had with lawyer Gerard Dale from Lane
Neave, at which Murray Cleverley was also present. Gerald Dale was advising CERA. They
believe that meeting was in July 2014. In that meeting they told Mr Dale about the
difficulties with investment and that they were looking to set up a company to create a
vehicle for investment partnership and project management in order to get some
investment into Christchurch. Mr Dale advised our clients to clear any conflict of interest
internally and he would clear the proposal with CERA.

Secondly, our clients were told by Lane Neave (Gerald Dale) that they had an arrangement
with CERA that before they acted for CERA staff on any property transaction, CERA was
advised about it. Our clients engaged with Lane Neave (Ashley Taggett) on the
understanding that CERA would be advised of the work. We believe Lane Neave will have
told CERA about the property transactions our clients were putting through their firm.”

Mr Dale of Lane Neave stated:

“I do not recall a meeting in July 2014 with Murray Cleverley, Gerard Gallagher and Simon
Nikoloff with the suggested topics of discussion. My diary and time records do not indicate
a meeting around this time. However, do | recall a business/marketing lunch with them in
late June 2014 where some of the suggested topics were discussed. My diary and time
records indicate | had lunch with them on 25 June 2014. | recall that the attendees at the

Paragraph 30.2 of each FTC as outlined in Appendix 4
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lunch were Chris O’Brien, Murray Cleverley, Gerard Gallagher and Simon Nikoloff. The lunch
continued a conversation started by Murray Cleverley and Gerard Gallagher at CERA in late
May 2014 concerning investment vehicles, which | understood fell within Murray Cleverley’s
portfolio. At issue was how the Crown could establish or encourage the establishment of
investment vehicles to assist the redevelopment of Christchurch. The lunch covered a wide
range of investment topics including structures (funds, unit trusts limited partnerships,
companies etc.) alongside the state of the investment market, the insurance market,
construction activity, their past roles with an investment fund and business in general. About
30 minutes of the lunch dealt with how CERA could establish an investment vehicle but that
was incidental to a wide-ranging business/marketing discussion.

We did not discuss conflicts of interest as it was not relevant to the subject at hand. | can
confirm that as this was CERA related, | had verbally advised Bronwyn Arthur of our
discussions. | recall doing so after the initial May 2014 meeting and again after the late June
2014 meeting. | recall the meeting and discussions because they piqued my interest as |
practice in financial markets. | later understood from Bronwyn the matter was not
progressing.

In early September 2014, with the consent of Gerard Gallagher and Simon Nikoloff, | very
briefly met with Bronwyn Arthur to verbally disclose that they were at that stage looking to
set up a property investment business intending to purchase property in Christchurch and
that upon my becoming aware of this that | had talked to them about conflicts of interest
and the necessity of obtaining internal approvals as a consequence. My discussion did not
deal with specific transactional details — | was not aware of them.”

Ms Arthur stated:

“In terms of the conversation which Mr Dale says happened in early September, | consider
that this was just part of Lane Neave's and my normal "hygiene". Lane Neave (especially
Mr Dale) did a considerable amount of work for CERA. It was, therefore, reasonable for him
to check with me if | saw a potential conflict for him working for other clients (regardless of
whether they were CERA staff or not). This was a conflict of interest issue as between CERA
and Lane Neave and had nothing to do with me approving what staff could use Lane Neave
or whether what the staff were doing outside of work was in conflict with CERA.

As noted, | have no recollection of this specific conversation but if what | was advised was
that Lane Neave was assisting Simon and Gerard to set up a company (or even an
investment vehicle) | would not have seen the legal work of establishing such a thing for two
staff members as a conflict with the work that Mr Dale was doing for CERA. | am sure that
if there had been details about a specific transaction which conflicted with CERA's interests
Mr Dale would have advised me as we had a close working relationship and saw each other
frequently.”

Mr Cleverley submitted through his lawyer that the only meeting he attended of the nature
described was with Mr Dale at the Canterbury Club. His recollection was that the meeting was to
consider ways of facilitation of overseas investors into Christchurch. He does not recall the date
nor any mention of PIML. Otherwise, Mr Cleverley stated he had no knowledge of the matters
outlined in 4.30 to 4.32 above.

My conclusion on this issue is that Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff are amalgamating two separate
events. The first a lunch where the conversations were not concerned with PIML nor with conflicts
of interest. The second a discussion with Mr Dale in or around September 2014. In further
submissions to me, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff accept this is correct.

In my view, the second discussion was not sufficiently specific to amount to a disclosure of a
possible conflict of interest. In an ideal world, the matter would have been followed up and any
uncertainty clarified. The obligation of disclosure is, however, on the employee. They have not
only the obligation, but the greatest knowledge of the issue and the potential for conflict. As
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outlined above, in situations of uncertainty the employee should disclose and seek approval. It
would be unusual to do so through lawyers and unlikely to be effective given the limitations of
knowledge and legal privilege.

The interaction outlined above supports that Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff would have been aware
of a situation of conflict (or at least an issue that required disclosure) by at the latest September
2014.

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff maintain they did give specifics to Mr Dale about the activity of PIML.
They submit that Mr Dale’s firm Lane Neave did have knowledge of it (Mr Taggart). They also
submit through their lawyer that the information held by the law firm Lane Neave was held by all
partners (including Mr Dale) and that Lane Neave and Mr Dale had an obligation to ensure they
were not acting against their client’s interests (CERA).

The obligation to declare conflicts (potential and actual) is with the employee. Whether Lane Neave
held the information or had a conflict is not the point. Lane Neave were not obliged to disclose to
CERA the details of the Gallagher/Nikoloff instructions without specific consent or instruction to do
so from Gallagher and Nikoloff. Mr Dale did not have the information (as a matter of fact) and Mr
Taggart (who did) was not instructed to disclose. Lane Neave did not have all the relevant
information either. | do not, therefore, accept the submission and the further arguments on this
point as relevant.

To continue the chronology, Lane Neave prepared the Sale and Purchase Agreement in the newly
incorporated company, containing an offer for $2.2m, and on 22 September sent it to Mr Wells.
On 25 September 2014 Mr Wells countersigned that offer at $2.3m. Mr Gallagher (copied to Mr
Nikoloff) instructed Lane Neave to countersign and accept that figure, which was then sent to Mr
Wells. BVL01.062/067

In late September and early October 2014, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff continued to deal with
Lane Neave in respect of the deposit to be paid on the purchase of 209 High Street (Kennett House).
It appears to me that the arrangement was to be that PIML would take a third share in the property
with a deposit of $10,000 to be paid for PIML’s third share.

Mr Gallagher, Mr Nikoloff and Mr Cleverley contributed $2,500 each with the other CERA employee
9(2)(a) ) also contributing $2,500. 9(2)(a) was not a shareholder in PIML. BVL02.006/010.
Thls appears to have been a personal resillential property development (i.e. an apartment for each
of them) and the contribution was for a deposit on that. It is not clear why PIML needed to be
involved in the purchase but there was the potential for project management by it.

On 6 October 2014 Mr Nikoloff sent Mr Cleverley a Heads of Agreement between PIML and the
owner of the property at 159 Hereford Street. The document described the “Key Personnel” of
PIML, including Mr Cleverley, Mr Nikoloff, Mr Gallagher and 9(_2)(3) . The Heads of Agreement
appears to record that PIML will earn a $350,000 Project Management Fee. BVL02.060/065

As noted above, weekly reports prepared by Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff (including those said to
be for the Minister) contain references to the properties under review including on 6 April 2014 —
159 Hereford Street. BVL04.002

An agreement between PIML and the owner of 159 Hereford St, a property which Mr Nikoloff and
Mr Gallagher dealt with as CERA employees, would place them in a situation where their duties to
the Chief Executive of CERA could be affected by another interest they have. In short, their duty
to advance the interests of CERA (including facilitating the flow of information and investment
between investors and owners) could be affected by their own personal interest in PIML and the
Heads of Agreement advanced.
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Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff submit this conclusion is wrong because they had no obligation or
mandate to obtain the best sale price, terms or conditions for any property in Christchurch, nor did
they act for property owners nor were they real estate agents. Their obligation was, however, to
facilitate the flow of information leading to investment. Their own personal involvement through
PIML was likely to conflict with that (for obvious reasons). Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff state that
there was no risk that their role at CERA would be compromised by the transaction. | do not agree,
but more importantly that is an assessment (and decision) which CERA through its Chief Executive
was entitled to make.

In October and November 2014 Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff continued to email potential
investors to offer the opportunity to invest in the YHA building. One email stated that “our
investment company Project Investment Management Limited has the contract on the building . . .”
A marketing document was also created which stated:

Shareholding
e On offer a shareholding of minimum 60% (53m)
e Project & Investment Management Limited balance

And further stated:

About Project & Investment Management Limited (PIMCo): PIMCo is a private company
with four commercially experienced business partners. PIMCo provides project and
investment management services to clients and locates investments and presents
opportunities to clients, partnering with clients on a value add basis.

The document ends:

Primary Contact

PIMCo Director

Simon Nikoloff

(personal email and mobile omitted) BVLO1. 069/073 & BVL01.083/086

At interview Mr Cleverley said that this document was very similar in format to a CERA document.
On first reviewing it (when he received it as part of this inquiry) he did not appreciate it was a PIML
document, such was the similarity. The potential for confusion and conflict in such a situation is
obvious. Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff maintain CERA never produced any private sector marketing
documents like this. | put this to Mr Cleverley who acknowledged this document may have been in
more detail than the CERA “one page” presentations he recalled but he said the layout was similar
to those produced and used by CERA.

In early December 2014 Mr Gallagher sent the marketing document on the YHA property (above)
to a potential investor, the Tulla Group, represented by Mr Kevin Maloney and Mr Ewen McKenzie.
The email stated:

From: Gerard Gallagher

Sent: Tuesday, 2 December 2014 4:46p.m.
To: 'Kevin Maloney'

Cc: Simon Nikoloff

Subject: RE: Ewen McKenzie contact details

Hi Kevin & Ewen,

Good to catch up today. Find attached all the information on the YHA at 273 Manchester St.
159 Hereford Street to come

I have given you a sample of the YHA DD and engineering reports.
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I will bring a hard copy of the numbers for both.
See you at 5pm
Gerard

BVL01.094/099

A meeting followed and the further information was provided. The following email records the
next step:

From: Gerard Gallagher [mailto: gerard@gallaghergrant.co.nz]
Sent: Wednesday, 3 December 2014 7:12AM

To: Kevin Maloney; Ewen McKenzie

Cc: Simon Nikoloff; Murray Cleverly

Subject: YHA

Hi Kevin & Ewen

I expect you are flying now - as promised here is a summary of the options for you in regards
the acquisition of the YHA building on Manchester Street as discussed last evening.

This is my personal business email which is appropriate to use in this case.

We are using Project and Investment Management Ltd (PIMco) to complete this transaction
- this company shareholders are Murray, Simon and myself. | am sure the boys informed you
of our ability to do these types of transactions.

The email described two options, the first described as “No Risk Option” with a total price of $5m
and PIML taking responsibility for repairs, tenants and management. The second was described as
“Risk Option” and had a payment of $2.6m with $2.3m for the building and $300k for PIML. The
$300k was described as “cost of DD and Finders Fee”. BVL01.0100/102. Mr Gallagher and Mr
Nikoloff supplied me with a statement dated 20 March 2017 from Mr Edge of Global Edge Limited
which explained that the finders fee was payable to Global Edge as a result of their involvement in
introducing PIML to Tulla Group.

During December 2014 Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff continued to progress a potential on-sale of
the YHA building to the Tulla Group and other potential investors.

Again, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff created a situation where their duties to the Chief Executive
of CERA could be affected by some other interest they have. In short, their duty to facilitate
investment (and the flow of information to that end) for the redevelopment of Christchurch could
have been affected by their own personal interest in PIML. For example, if in their CERA capacity
they had learned of an offer better than that of PIML’s. Or if they were aware of information as a
CERA employee which was contrary to PIML’s interests but unknown to the vendor. CERA ought to
have been advised of their activity in PIML and given the relevant information to decide whether it
was acceptable. From my inquiries, | conclude that it was not.

In December 2014 or January 2015, Mr McCulloch (an associate of Mr Maloney) and Mr McKenzie
visited Christchurch and approached Mr Wells directly to facilitate the purchase of the YHA building.
The purchase was agreed between them. Mr Wells said that it was at this time that he became
aware of difficulties that Tulla was having with Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff at CERA and was
advised (in confidence) of their request for a finder’s fee. He was not made aware, and did not
know of, PIML.
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As earlier recorded, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff stated to me°:

We are confident we spoke with Mark Wells about our involvement in September 2014, to
see if he would have any objection to us becoming involved as project managers.
Unfortunately, we have not found anything in writing to confirm this. We know we talked
with him about it and we know that his only concern was to get the sale.

Mr Wells is clear that he did not know of their personal involvement. He thought any project
development would be done by the property’s purchaser.

| accept what he said and do not accept that Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff told him they were
involved in a personal capacity in the sale and purchase.

Mr McCulloch says that the reasons he went directly to YHA was because of discomfort that Mr
Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff were doing a deal on behalf of their private company and at the same
time working for CERA. He was also concerned at the request for a finder’s fee. When he spoke
with Mr Wells, that was the first occasion Mr Wells heard of the involvement of Mr Gallagher/Mr
Nikoloff in another capacity (PIML).

In relation to PIML generally, Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff stated to me'?:

33. On 13 August 2014, we set up a company Project and Investment Management
Limited (PIMCO). Its name speaks for itself in terms of what we wanted to do, based on the
gap in the market. It also fitted our skill set and, by then, we had bought into the rebuild of
the city. While we could see the problems and we could see the way to "get on and do it" in
the private sector. [The other CERA employee], with whom we worked at CERA, was initially
interested but he did not take this any further.

34. We approached Murray Cleverley ("Murray") to be a shareholder as we were
aware of his reputation as a professional director on a property development company. We
believed he would be a good person to have associated with the business. We held 333
shares each and Murray held 334 shares. Simon was listed as the director.

35. We spoke with in-house counsel at CERA (Patricia Noble) explaining our situation
and asking if there was a potential probity issue and any perceived conflict with the
establishment of PIMCO and our involvement with purchase and project management after
a property had been bought. Patricia said there was no probity or conflict and she said we
could do what we like outside of our CERA work. We spoke with Patricia on more than one
occasion and across all our work and interests, not just Hereford Street. She was fully familiar
with our work streams. We worked closely together. While she knew about our private
interests, she was not involved in any of them. We believe Patricia should be interviewed
about this.

36. PIMCO never traded, transacted any money or any type of business. We
deregistered the company in October 2016.

Ms Noble was asked for comment on the suggestions above. She responded as follows:

Gallagher and Nikoloff say that they approached me to check out the establishment of
PIMCO along with their involvement with purchase and project management after a
property had been bought. That did not happen.

Prior to questioning Gerard Gallagher and Simon Nikoloff about their involvement with the
Youth Hostel Association (YHA) property in Manchester Street, | did not know about Property
Investment Management Limited (referred to as PIMCO by Gallagher and Nikoloff) or how

Paragraph 47 Joint Statement dated 23 February 2017
Paragraphs 33 — 36 Joint Statement 23 February 2017
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it worked in the Christchurch investment market. Prior to asking Gerard and Simon to meet
with me, and this was through 9(_2)(8) who worked with them and who | knew, | was
not aware that company had beén established or what it did.

My only knowledge about PIMCO, just before asking to asking to meet with Simon and
Gerard, was a passing comment in a social context, that the YHA Australian investors had
to go through PIMCO and Gerard and Simon as CERA's investment guys to get property deals
done in Christchurch.

At that time | had no knowledge about finders fees or other proposals that had been put to
the Australian investors on YHA. | think this was late October/early November 2014 and |
met with Gerard and Simon within one week of that comment from the Australian YHA
investors being in Christchurch.

When | asked Gerard and Simon about the YHA property and what they were doing, they
explained to me that PIMCO was a project management company, that property owners
could choose to engage with, that the company was not operational, and it did not even
have a bank account. They both denied that they were channeling property owners and
investors though PIMCO and that such an inference had been a mistake on the investors
part.

| told them, categorically, regardless of whether the company was operating, they had a
conflict of interest that they needed to declare. On the information | had at the time, |
assessed this as a perceived conflict that they both needed to declare to CERA.

Neither Gallagher nor Nikoloff disclosed to me the extent of the representations that PIMCO
had made to third parties. Had | known about the extent Gallagher and Nikoloff's
representations to the YHA investors on finder's fees and purchase propositions, conflicts
aside, | would have immediately reported this to Warwick Issacs.

Ms Noble is adamant that she did not advise Mr Nikoloff or Mr Gallagher that they had no conflict.

Ms Arthur confirmed Ms Noble’s recollection that the issue (of Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff’s
involvement in the YHA transaction) had arisen by way of an informal conversation with the
Australian investors (Tulla) when she was present.

Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher maintained at interview that they raised the issue with Ms Noble and
that she had said words to the effect that there was no conflict and if it was in their own time then
they could do what they wished. They maintained this in further submissions to me and supported
this with a chronology of events which was contrary to that recounted by Ms Noble. | do not
propose to reconcile the differing chronologies or timings as they do not advance the central issue.

| am unable to accept Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher’s account of the conversation with Ms Noble.
It is not supported by documentary disclosure or by the tenor of the documents that do exist. Itis
counter-intuitive and contrary to the accounts of Ms Noble, Ms Arthur and the Tulla Group
(Australian) investors. Neither Mr Isaacs, nor Ms McBreen-Kerr nor relevant others were aware of
the existence of PIML or its involvement in this transaction. It is inherently unlikely that Ms Noble
would have said what is suggested (as compared to others such as Mr Dale).

In January 2015 Mr Gallagher had continued contact with Mr Maloney including inquiring as to
progress on the YHA property.

On 2 February 2015 Mr Wells advised Mr Gallagher that the sale of Manchester Street (YHA
building) had been completed including settlement. It transpired that the building sold for
approximately $1.8m. BVL01.134/139

Page 22 of 46



CERA Inquiry Final Report

4.67

4.68

4.69

4.70

4.71

4.72

4.73

Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff stated to me*?:

60. While we were naturally disappointed at the loss of work for PIMCO (see document
BVL01.141), we were delighted that the sale of the YHA had gone through and due to
our efforts. | rang Mark Wells to confirm the sale had occurred and sent him a
congratulatory email (see document BVL01-134).

61. What the documents throughout this show is that we were using our CERA emails for
the investor aspect of the transaction and predominantly using our personal emails for
the potential role for PIMCO. We acknowledge that sometimes this slipped but we do
not believe that anyone had doubt about where the line was between our role of
encouraging investment into Christchurch and our private interest in offering property
management services.

62. Importantly - we did not think we were doing anything wrong and believed we had sign
off by our employer. We did not try to hide these conversations in the emails and were
transparent throughout.

| disagree that Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff were predominantly using their personal emails for
the potential role for PIML. They submitted six email chains as attachments to their statement to
me — each of which appeared to be recovered from personal emails. Even those chains contained
emails from their CERA addresses. This can be contrasted with the hundreds of emails recovered
from their CERA files many of which are referred to in this report. In further submission, Mr
Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff state they agree that most of this work was transacted through CERA
because they did not think they were doing anything wrong. To originally submit they were
predominantly using personal emails does not assist their credibility in my view.

| also disagree that the line was clear between their role of encouraging investment into
Christchurch and their private interest in offering property management services. It was not clear.
Mr Wells, for example, was not aware of such a line at all.

Finally, | do not accept the statement that each believed they had sign off from their employer.
There is no documentary or witness support for that. None of the relevant emails appear to have
been copied to their manager or to someone senior enough to give sign-off for CERA. No one
suggested that Mr Cleverley had authorised their activity and | do not accept their belated
suggestion in final submissions that he effectively did.

In January 2015 and onward, there were further documents and communications regarding PIML.
These were predominantly involving Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher, but on occasion they included
Mr Cleverley. These encompassed issues such as a business plan, a bank account, a logo and the
payment of legal fees to Lane Neave. | note that by this stage Mr Cleverley was no longer employed
by or present at CERA.

A schedule of Lane Neave accounts was sent by Mr Nikoloff to Mr Gallagher in May 2015
(BVL01.147). The schedule recorded fees on six projects including 273 and 120 Manchester St, 177
and 207-209 High St, 75 Carlton Mill Road and 159 Hereford St.

Immediately following the direct sale of the YHA property to the Tulla interests, Mr Nikoloff sent
an email to Mr Gallagher, Mr Cleverley and the other CERA employee. It set out 8 bullet points
including that “in their role as Investment facilitators (i.e. their CERA role) they had introduced
numerous parties to numerous investments in the CBD including the YHA Building”. It also stated:

“For this we could earn project and management fees, share in cost savings and share in
operational profits” and “In our private capacity we undertook detailed engineering and

Joint Statement 23 February 2017 paragraphs 60 - 62
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refurbishment evaluation and costing, provided detailed market evaluation, development
and business plans and a full business case.” BVL01.140/141

This has the appearance of a self-serving script. It was not entirely accurate and could have misled
CERA as to their involvement both in the CERA capacity and in a private capacity. Again, Mr
Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff maintain the contents are accurate and that it supports their belief they
had done nothing wrong. |do not agree. For example, contrast their concession above that most
of the work was transacted through CERA with the suggestion in the document above that
extensive work was done in their private capacity for which they could be paid.

On 11 February 2015 Mr Nikoloff emailed a letter dated 9 February to his home address. The letter
comprised a proposal whereby PIML would prepare a bid on behalf of an investor and earn a
$10,000 fee in return. Again, this sort of conduct would require declaration and clearance.

On 12 May 2015, Mr Nikoloff sent an email to colleagues at CERA including to Mr Gallagher
enclosing a ‘Case Study’ the subject of which was the YHA property at Manchester Street.
BVL01.144/145

The case study stated that the “key message” was:

“Our intervention resulted in 2 competitive bidders, accelerated the sale and
redevelopments, providing confidence”.

It also stated under the heading “Our Intervention”:

“Work with CCC, Obtain engineers reports, Locate potential parties, and Create interest (2
parties on the hook)”.

In closing it stated (under the heading) “Without Intervention” that “The building
possibly would not have sold, missed opportunity, reduced sale price. Safety and security”.

The email was misleading and omitted the personal involvement of Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff
in the transaction. Like the “script” referred to in paragraph 4.74, this email appears to have been
a conscious misrepresentation.

Both documents reinforce my conclusion that Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher were aware this was a
conflict situation which they avoided declaring. Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff stand by the
document notwithstanding that it has a section “Our Intervention” which omits any mention of
their setting up a company and entering into a sale and purchase agreement with the vendor.

| record here that Mr Sutton, Mr Ombler, Ms Fleetwood, Mr Isaacs and Mr Ewart all state that they
had no knowledge of PIML or of the activities of Mr Gallagher or Mr Nikoloff in relation to it.

Mr Isaacs said that if he had known, he would have taken decisive action. Mr Ewart’s view was the
behaviour should have been declared. This simply reinforces my conclusion.

Consequences for Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher

The matters outlined above (in particular the use of PIML and another company for personal gain
in CERA-related matters and the omission to disclose their activities to Mr Wells and CERA) are a
serious and sustained breach of the applicable standards for which a disciplinary process would
follow if Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher were still employed at CERA.  Their status at Otakaro is
subject to a process which | am not involved in. That is the appropriate forum to deal with any
issues which remain relevant arising from this inquiry.

Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher’s further submission on my conclusion was:
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(i) they were from the private sector placed into a public-sector role;

(ii) CERA did not properly implement policies and procedures, and did not induct them
properly and provide ongoing reflective counselling;

(iii) It is unfair to determine that they deliberately breached their obligations.
(iv) They believed they were entitled to act in the way they did.

| cannot accept that for the reasons | have already outlined. In my view, they created an actual
conflict of interest while at CERA and they did not manage it as they should have.

| have considered whether the conduct discussed above goes further than a breach of the conflict
of interest rules. | have considered relevant provisions of the Crimes Act in relation to some of the
conduct. Ultimately it is not for me to reach a view on that. If the conduct was to involve corrupt
use of official information for gain, or deception for the purposes of gain, then it may be of interest
to the Serious Fraud Office. | note that Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff strongly reject such a
suggestion. There are aspects of their conduct and the circumstances involved which suggest that
the conduct falls short of criminal. In addition, they have supplied further supporting statements
which support their general integrity and good character which would be a relevant consideration.

One option is for this report be made available to the Serious Fraud Office and the Director of the
SFO can determine whether the conduct (and any other relevant conduct) is worthy of
investigation.

Mr Cleverley
Mr Cleverley summarised his involvement with PIML as follows?3:

This company was formed by Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff, who advised me that it could
provide a basis for business activities after CERA ended. They asked me to be the chairman
(a position | had not taken up) and proposed that | take up some shares. | signed the
incorporation papers (which | understand you have) and paid 52,500 to the incorporating
solicitors Lane Neave. The company to my knowledge did not trade and was closed and
struck off. | was told that | would receive a refund of about 51,100. So far | have not received
that.

Mr Cleverley’s position at interview was that he was a passive shareholder and did not have visibility
of the extent of Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher’s activities. He did not view his shareholding as a
conflict and did not consider he needed to declare it — essentially because the company was, to his
knowledge, not yet active and that it was established to operate after the shareholders had left
CERA. He acknowledged that in hindsight it would have been prudent to declare it, in particular
had he known of the extent of activity by Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher.

9(2)(2) supports Mr Cleverley’s position. 9(2)(a) ’s name was used by Mr Gallagher and
Mr Nikoloff in relation to PIML yet he was not a shareholder or director. He thought that the
discussions involved post-CERA activity and did not know PIML had been incorporated until he
heard in 2016.

In relation to Mr Cleverley, he said**:

I have a vivid recollection of one such occasion during lunchtime, over a cup of tea in the tea
room at CERA, involving Murray Cleverley. This is my only recollection involving Murray on

13
14

Response of Mr Cleverley to 9 February 2017 letter — paragraph 1

9(2)(@) statement paragraph 21
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these matters. Murray said he had no spare time to be involved in anything operational,
that that was not his sort of thing, but that if there was an opportunity sometime in the
future in a governance role he could be interested. | clearly remember those were the exact
words he used - "not operational”, and "only interested sometime in the future in a
governance role".

491 Mr Cleverley submitted through his lawyer that to his knowledge PIML did not hold any shareholder
meetings, did not keep or circulate minutes, did not keep or circulate statutory records and did not
make any call on him for capital. In large part | accept that although | was provided with minutes
of a meeting in September which appear to have been sent to Mr Cleverley. He did not recall that
document.

4.92 Although there were many opportunities, | accept Mr Cleverley did not comprehend the extent of
the activities of PIML and | accept that he thought that any substantive activities were intended to
be post-CERA.

4.93 The question remains for me is as to whether he took sufficient care and exercised adequate
judgement to ensure that this was not an issue. | do not think he did.

4.94 My reasoning is in summary:

Mr Cleverley agreed to be a shareholder of this company formed by his friends and
colleagues at CERA in August 2014;

The company was intended to be involved in property investment, development and
management.

A number of emails are copied to Mr Cleverley over the course of the period | am concerned
with suggesting activity by PIML. For example, the email identified in paragraph 4.50 above
in December 2014.

Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher actively promoted the involvement of Mr Cleverley as a
shareholder and future chairman.

There were other interactions which could have given rise to questions as to the activities of
PIML. For example, the payment of legal fees to Lane Neave giving rise to a question as to
what activities were covered by this. It is not hard to imagine that regular interaction with
such friends and colleagues would give rise to discussion as to the activities of PIML, such as
the YHA property or 159 Hereford St for example.

Given the interaction, and that at least some knowledge of PIML came to the attention of
Ms Noble and Ms Arthur, Mr Cleverley likewise ought to have been aware of more of the
activities of PIML through Mr Gallagher or Mr Nikoloff.

In those circumstances, in my view, he ought to have at least considered the possibility that
they were active already and asked questions as to what was happening with PIML (including
whether the issue of conflict had been considered and/or dealt with). Even assuming
complete ignorance of any activity, it would have been prudent for him as a shareholder to
check with either of Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher that there was not an issue as to conflict
with CERA.

Mr Cleverley is a senior and experienced executive/board member. He is familiar with

conflict management. He was adamant that he was careful as to such issues. Given that, |
consider that CERA were entitled to more care and better judgement from him.
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| accept, however, Mr Cleverley is in a different position from Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher. 1 am
satisfied he was not aware of the actual conflict and therefore was not in a position to declare it.
He ought to have been aware of it in my view. | suggest that it would have been prudent for him
to declare his shareholding in PIML to CERA knowing that this company involved fellow employees
intending to be engaged in the property investment, development and management area.
Additionally, he ought to have ensured that Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher were reminded of their
obligations as to conflict and reminded to ensure compliance with them. That would have meant
the issue would have come to light earlier and may have been prevented. | consider he ought to
have been more careful in this respect.

To his credit, Mr Cleverley accepted these criticisms and explained that pressure of work and trust
in others led him to take less care than he ought to. He submitted to me that he has learned from
the process and remains very proud of what he achieved at CERA.
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DISCUSSION - 32 OXFORD TERRACE PROPERTY — MR CLEVERLEY

Canterbury DHB provided to me (through the State Services Commission) a complete chronology of
events relating to this issue. The Ministry of Health provided me their perspective on it. The
Canterbury DHB summary timeline is set out at Appendix 6.

In 2014 the Canterbury DHB was looking to lease premises near Christchurch Hospital for a corporate
office. The DHB's corporate office was then located at the Princess Margaret Hospital but the
expectation was that it would relocate off that site along with the clinical services around mid-2016.

The Canterbury DHB chronology outlines the relevant processes which took place in 2014 leading to
the agreement to lease 32 Oxford Terrace for the DHB corporate office. Mr Cleverley was involved
as Board Chair as noted there. Mr Cleverley was concerned the proposed rental was above market
and told me he had ensured that the rental was a competitive market rate. The relevant chronology
of events then has a break in it through to 2016.

The Ministry of Health was advised when the lease arrangement was finalised and was aware the
DHB was to move into the refurbished premises at 32 Oxford Terrace in mid-2016.

On 1 May 2016, Mr Cleverley became a director of a company called Silverfin Capital Limited
(Silverfin). That company is ultimately owned by Silverfin Equities Limited, which Mr Cleverley
became a director of on 11 May 2016.

Mr Cleverley declared his interest as a director of Silverfin at the 30 May 2016 DHB Board meeting.
The Canterbury DHB facilities committee minutes of 1 August 2016 record as follows:

"Murray Cleverley advised that Silverfin Capital Limited, a company for which he is a
director, and which Cheryl Macaulay is Managing Director, is in the process of purchasing
the Corporate Services Building at 32 Oxford Terrace from Richard Diver. This is not expected
to pose a conflict, but it is important the committee is aware of the interest".

The Ministry of Health became aware of the issue and contacted Mr Cleverley for an explanation.

The explanation was that the owner Countrywide Properties had the property at 32 Oxford Terrace
on the open market. Silverfin was looking at investment opportunities in Christchurch and had
entered into a contract to purchase 32 Oxford Terrace. Mr Cleverley advised that he was a director
but was not involved in the day to day operations of Silverfin so was unaware of the negotiations
until just prior to the facilities committee meeting of 1 August 2016. The proposed transaction did
not involve the DHB as the DHB was simply the tenant.

Mr Cleverley further explained that Silverfin is a syndication group. It did not buy 32 Oxford Terrace
to own it for itself rather the property at 32 Oxford Terrace is owned by a syndicate of investors and
Silverfin assists the syndicate as manager. Mr Cleverley stated (and there is nothing | am aware of
to the contrary) that he did not initiate Silverfin's interest in 32 Oxford Terrace.

The Ministry of Health discussed with Mr Cleverley how conflicts would be resolved which involved
the DHB in a transaction. The obvious ones were any landlord and tenant disputes, rent reviews and
renewals, or changes to the lease.

Mr Cleverley advised the DHB lease was long term with rent reviews according to a formula (so did
not require negotiation) until 2030 so managing conflicts around rent reviews or renewals was
unlikely to be an issue.

He advised when a transaction did arise he would manage it by neither participating in nor
deliberating on the transaction, and ensuring he was not privy to relevant information. Mr Cleverley
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advised this was in line with the specific provisions relating to conflict of interest in DHBs contained
within legislation (New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act).

The provisions related to conflict of interest in the DHB board setting are contained in clause 36 of
Schedule 3 to that Act. It states:

Disclosure of members’ interests
36 Disclosure of interests

(2) A member of a board of a DHB who is interested in a transaction of the DHB must, as soon
as practicable after the relevant facts have come to the member’s knowledge, disclose the
nature of the interest to the board.

(2) A member of a board who makes a disclosure under this clause must not (unless subclause
(4) applies, or the Minister, by a waiver or modification of the application of this subclause
under clause 37, permits)—

(a) take part, after the disclosure in any deliberation or decision of the board relating to
the transaction; or

(b)  beincluded in the quorum required by clause 25 for any such deliberation or
decision; or

(c) sign any document relating to the entry into a transaction or the initiation of the
transaction.

(3) A disclosure under this clause must be recorded in the minutes of the next meeting of the
board concerned and entered in a separate interests register maintained for the purpose.

(4) However, a member of the board who makes a disclosure under this clause may take part
in any deliberation (but not any decision) of the board relating to the transaction concerned
if a majority of the other members of the board permits the member to do so.

[remaining subsections not included)]

The matter was discussed between the Ministry and the State Services Commission. They reached
the view that notwithstanding the legal position relating to conflicts of interest, the optimal solution
would be for Mr Cleverley to resign as director of Silverfin as this would remove the basis for any
complaints.

The Ministry approached Mr Cleverley with this suggestion which was not accepted.
Mr Cleverley approached the Ministry at a later stage and advised some board members were
concerned about a possible conflict of interest related to Silverfin. Mr Cleverley stated that the board

members concerns seemed to be addressed once he provided an explanation and advised how
future conflicts of interest relating to the lease would be managed.

In October 2016 the issue was reported publicly in "The Press".
On 25 October 2016 in the declaration for appointment to DHB boards relating to Canterbury DHB
Mr Cleverley declared the interest stating "Silverfin Capital - independent director, financial interest

director's fees".

Mr Cleverley stated to me:
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I did not join this company until after | had left CERA. At the time that | joined, it was the
owner of a property at 32 Oxford Terrace which it had purchased. That property was leased
by the Canterbury District Health Board. | am attaching a copy of the lease and a copy of a
letter from the Board to a reporter who inquired about the lease. | was a member of the
District Health Board when the lease was entered into. At that time | had no connection to
Silverfin, and the lease was entered into on fully commercial terms and indeed in my view
terms which were advantageous to the Board (including that the rental is fixed for the first
ten years with only CPI increases). As a Board member | have no ability to take any action
with respect to this lease which could be to the advantage of Silverfin.

It is not correct to say that Silverfin was the owner of 32 Oxford Terrace at the time Mr Cleverley
joined as a director. That is evident from the chronology set out above.

In addition, Mr Cleverley submitted through his lawyer:

o There were no transactions between DHB and Silverfin. They were simply the tenants, locked
in for 15 years.

. his entire involvement in the lease from Countrywide to the DHB was complete and in effect
before he had any knowledge of a possible Silverfin opportunity.

J There were no discussions, consultations, or negotiations involving Mr Cleverley or the DHB
when Silverfin bought- the DHB were not party to the sale transaction.

. There were 2 Buildings, with 5 tenants, offered for sale as a single package and bought by
Silverfin - Oxford Terrace and Victoria Street.

. While the Ministry and SSC raised the question of whether Mr Cleverley could resign as a
director of Silverfin, this was not adopted by and has never been sought by the Minister (who
appoints him). To the contrary, all DHB Chairs have outside activities, as being a Chair is not
a full-time position. It is a directorship. He was recruited for that position and appointed
because of those skills. Many DHB Chairs have substantial business and commercial
commitments - it is these skills which are sought by the Minister for the chairs (along with
governance).

o If he had been put to a choice between CDHB chair and Silverfin chair, he would have had to
put his commercial commitments ahead of his public service.

Ultimately the management of conflicts is for Mr Cleverley and the Board of the DHB. The legislation
(above) allows for the member of the Board to deal with it in the way that Mr Cleverley did. The
issue then becomes a question of perception and “optics”. | agree with Mr Cleverley that Board
positions such as these are not full-time roles and require significant business and/or governance
skills. The Courts have considered the approach to conflicts of interest in the DHB setting and have
stated that compliance with the statutory framework is sufficient and to go further in a commercial
setting would unduly limit a DHB.®

The choice of becoming a director in Silverfin, and continuing to hold that directorship, in light of
both the situation relating to Oxford Terrace and the involvement of Cheryl Macaulay (Silverfin
Managing Director) in the Facilities Committee of the DHB are matters which give rise to questions
of judgement. They are personal choices and the inclination of the public service in my experience
is to take a more cautious approach (as evidenced by the Ministry of Health and SSC position). In my
view that would have been the prudent and cautious course of action here, in order to avoid

15

Lab Tests Auckland Ltd v Auckland District Health Board [2009] 1 NZLR 776
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complaints or allegations such as these. That said, | understand the position of Mr Cleverley and he
is entitled to take the position he did.

Mr Cleverley further submitted to me

“It is open to any Minister at any time to ask any DHB chair to step down, and if
that request is disputed, to remove the chair. The Silverfin matter was fully
disclosed by me. It was twice reviewed by officials who twice reported to the
Minister. Their view that | should resign from Silverfin was to me naively
uncommercial, somewhat insulting to me (by implying | might not be trustworthy),
and not justified on the facts. On each occasion, the Minister rejected that advice
and indeed asked me to continue.”

As stated, he is entitled to take that view but in turn must bear any criticism arising from taking a less
cautious approach.

Mr Cleverley further submitted that he does not receive any benefit from the 32 Oxford Terrace
lease; there has been no loss and potentially some advantage to CDHB from his involvement; and
that the Minister has continued with his appointments as Chair notwithstanding. | do not take issue
with those statements and note them for completeness.

I have not been able to investigate other issues of conflict or their management in the time available.
| inquired of South Canterbury DHB and no issues of that nature were raised with me. Likewise
nothing was drawn to my attention relating to the proposed transaction between ACC and the
Canterbury DHB which Mr Cleverley provided information on. | make no comment on that and
understand that the transaction remains subject to DHB and ACC consideration.
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STATE SERVICES COMMISSION
TeKomihanaONgaTari Kawanatanga

APPENDIX 1 - Terms of Reference

Michael Heron QC

9(2)(a) privacy

7 February 2017

Dear Mr Heron

CANTERBURY EARTHQUAKE RECOVERY: ALLEGED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

| am appointing you pursuant to sections 23(1) and 25(2) of the State Sector Act 1988
to undertake an inquiry on my behalf on the terms set out in this letter, effective from
the date of this letter. Under this delegation and appointment, you have all necessary
and expedient powers that | can exercise under the State Sector Act for the purposes
of undertaking this inquiry, including my general powers under section 7 to 10 and the
specific powers provided under section 25.

Attached for your information is a letter of direction received from the Prime Minister
relating to Mr Cleverley's current role as Board chair and member at the South
Canterbury and Canterbury District Health Boards.

Background and allegations

Prior to its disestablishment, the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
employed Murray Cleverley, Gerard Gallagher and Simon Nikoloff (the former
CERA staff members) in investment facilitation roles.

Recent media reports have alleged that, whilst employed by CERA, the three
individuals were inappropriately involved in private business dealings that were related
to their roles as Public Servants at the time.

Messrs Gallagher and Nikoloff have now been employed at Otakaro Limited, to
undertake ongoing activities relating to Canterbury Earthquake Recovery. Mr Cleverley
occupies governance roles at the South Canterbury and Canterbury District Health
Boards. Other media reports have also suggested that there may also have been
private business dealings by one or more of the former CERA staff members while
occupying these subsequent positions.

In light of my function to promote and reinforce standards of integrity and conduct in
the State services, and the matters raised in the media, | have determined it necessary
to inquire into these allegations to determine whether the State Services Standards of
Integrity and Conduct, or other relevant applicable standards, have been observed.

Terms of reference

The Inquiry will investigate:
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APPENDIX 2 — Prime Minister’s letter and Jurisdiction

Prime Minister

Mr Peter Hughes, CNZM
State Services Commissioner
PO Box 329

Wellington 6140

Dear Peter

CERA conflictof interest investigation

Thank you for advising me about the allegations surrounding the actions of three former employees of
the former departmental agency, the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA).

In summary the allegation in the media is that the three individuals established a company for the
purposes of doing business with the same investors that they were employed into the Public Service to
attract to Canterbury. If established, this would suggest a breach of the Code of Conduct in relation to
their employment by CERA.

You have advised me that given the serious nature of allegations and the need to ensure the highest
level of integrity within the State services, you are undertaking an investigation into the matters as they
relate to CERA and also any subsequent roles within the State services of these individuals.

You have also advised me that to be fair to all parties and to ascertain the full facts it is your view that
you should also investigate these matters as they relate to Mr Cleverley in respect of his role as board
member and chair of the Canterbury and South Canterbury District Health Boards. To do so, you have
sought a direction from me under section 11(1) of the State Sector Act 1988 (the Act).

| therefore direct you under section 11(1) of the Act to exercise your functions and powers under the Act
to investigate the matters raised as they relate to Mr Cleverley in respect of his role as board member
and chair of the Canterbury and South Canterbury District Health Boards.

Once you have completed your investigation into these allegations, | expect to be briefed on your findings.

Yours sincerely

Rt Hon Bill English
Prime Minister

Private Bag 18041, Parliament Buildings, Wellington 6160, New Zealand. Telephone 64 4 817 6800
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The Commission has functions under s 6 of the State Sector Act 1988 (SSA) to:
(i) promote and reinforce standards of integrity and conduct in the State services; and
(ii) promote transparent accountability in the State services;

The Commission also has general power under s 7 and specific powers under sections 8-10 and 25:

(i) section 8 - in respect of the public service, to inquire into matters and seek and receive reports;
(ii) section 9 - to require information from any agency;

(iii) section 10- to enter into departmental premises; and

(iv) section 25 - Commission of Inquiry like powers to summons and receive evidence.

The general section 6 function is also given effect by the provisions in sections 57 to 57C. These provisions
enable a code of conduct to be applied to any State services agency (including Crown entities and DHBs).
This code of conduct then applies to the agency generally and the employees specifically.

The Code applies to agencies and employees, however, it does not apply to board members - they are
governed by their Crown Entities Act 2004 (CEA) duties and obligations.

Section 11(1) enables the Prime Minister to direct the Commissioner to carry out, in respect of any part of
the State services that does not form part of the Public Service, any of the functions and powers conferred
on the Commissioner by any provision of sections 6 to 10. Such a direction means that the whole of the
activities of that entity, including its governors, are subject to the Commissioner's ability to inquire into and
seek and receive reports under s 8, for the purpose of the s 6 functions (which already cover the broader
State services in any event).

In summary:

(i) The Commissioner's s6 functions extend to promoting and reinforcing standards for the whole of
the State services, and promoting transparent accountability;

(ii) The conduct of Crown entity Board members cannot be held to the standards of the SSC Code. The
relevant standards for Boards are instead those imposed by the CEA. The Commissioner's specific
inquiry and reporting powers relating to breaches of the Code (sections 57-57C) are limited to
employees and therefore do not apply to Board members;

(iii) Without Prime Ministerial direction under section 11(1) the other specific inquiry powers (sections
8-10 and 25) are also not available to the Commissioner in relation to Board member conduct,
because section 8 is limited to departments;

(iv) However, with a Prime Ministerial direction the specific powers to inquire and report in sections 8-

10 and 25 apply to Board members, because they are part of the governance of the entity, and
section 8 has no limitation to employees.
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APPENDIX 3 — Process and Documentation

10.

| engaged the firm of Beattie Varley to assist with the inquiry. Also assisting was Mr Steven Bird, a
barrister employed by me and Mr Ben Mak, my IT specialist.

| wrote to each of the subjects on 9 February 2017 through their lawyer, requesting that | be provided
with:

(a) Any documents, electronic or otherwise, in your possession or control that relate to Project
and Investment Management Limited (PIM), that may be relevant to the Inquiry;

(b) Any documents, electronic or otherwise, in your possession or control that relate to the
following properties, that may be relevant to the Inquiry:

(i) 273 Manchester Street, Christchurch; and

(ii) 159 Hereford Street, Christchurch;
(c) Any statement you wish to offer in relation to the documents provided; and
(d) Any other information you would like me to consider?®.

An ironkey containing “.PST” files (effectively all available email items) for the subjects of the
investigation (and including Janet Manners and Alison Sheilds — both Executive Assistants to Murray
Cleverley and the CCDU team) was received by the investigation team. It comprised 16 gigabytes of
data. The ironkey was searched to identify the existence and knowledge of PIML across the subjects,
including its involvement with the YHA building transaction, the 159 Hereford Street transaction, and
several other property transactions that became relevant to the inquiry. This produced
approximately 100 key relevant documents which were provided in four tranches, each with an index
which contained hyperlinks to the listed document.

In addition, the human resources files from CERA with the relevant contracts and policies was
accessed and provided in the same way.

The Ministry of Health provided documents relating to the building at 32 Oxford Terrace, Canterbury
DHB and the potential conflict of Mr Cleverley. Further documents on this topic were provided on 7
March 2017 by Canterbury DHB and then made available to the parties.

The responses to the 9 February requests were received on 17 February (Mr Cleverley) and 23
February (Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher).

Inquiries and discussions were conducted with the people listed in Appendix 5. Where the statement
or comment of those persons was relevant and relied on by me, it is included in this draft report.

Interviews were held with Mr Nikoloff and his lawyer (Ms Dalziel) on Thursday 23 February (10am-
1pm); Mr Gallagher and his lawyer (Ms Dalziel) on Thursday 23 February (2pm — 5.30pm); and Mr
Cleverley and his lawyer (Mr Rennie QC) on Friday 24 February (9am — 12 noon) in Christchurch.

Further written information was supplied on 26 February 2017 by Mr Cleverley relating to a potential
transaction between ACC and Canterbury DHB.

Further inquiries and discussions were held following the interim report, in particular as a result of
the further information supplied by Mr Cleverley, Mr Nikoloff and Mr Gallagher. In particular

16

Murray Cleverley was also asked to provide information relating to the property at 32 Oxford Terrace.
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11.

12.

inquiries were made with 9(_2)(3) (formerly of CERA), Mr Gerard Dale of Lane Neave, Ms
Bronwyn Arthur (formerly of ¢ERA) and Ms Sheila McBreen-Kerr (formerly of CERA).

Access to relevant documents (including statements and emails) was provided to the subjects and
their counsel primarily by dropbox as and when they became available. Indexes and a complete set
of relevant documentation relied on by me is available on the dropbox folder controlled by SSC and
entitled “Natural Justice”. Each document was available to the subjects and their lawyers.

A draft final report (with preliminary conclusions) was provided for comment on 10 March 2017.
Comments and further material were received from Mr Cleverley on 13 March 2017 and from Mr
Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff on 27 March 2017. |asked Mr Cleverley to respond to two matters raised
in that document and received that on 30 March 2017.
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APPENDIX 4 — Applicable Standards
1. The Standards of Integrity and Conduct issued by the State Services Commissioner (SSC) pursuant to s

57 of the State Services Act (relevantly) state:

We must:

use our organisation's resources carefully and only for intended purposes

be honest

ensure our actions are not affected by our personal interests or relationships

never misuse our position for personal gain

avoid any activities, work or non-work, that may harm the reputation of our organisation
or of the State Services.

2. Each FTC referred to above contained the following clause relating to conflicts:

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

30.1

30.2

30.3

30.4

You may not enter into any other employment agreement or outside activity
which could conflict with your responsibilities under this agreement or prejudice
your ability to perform your duties or bring CERA into disrepute.

You may only enter into another employment agreement or outside activity with
the prior written agreement of the Chief Executive or their delegate.

Where the Chief Executive or their delegate reasonably forms the view that a
conflict of interest situation has either developed or may occur, then the Chief
Executive may require you to cease undertaking the activity giving rise to a
conflict of interest (whether or not that activity has been previously approved).

You are required to disclose to the Chief Executive or his delegate any actual,
potential or perceived conflict of interest that arises during your employment
with CERA. This may include but is not limited to; financial interests, on-going
work and voluntary commitments (whether paid or unpaid), relationships with
other employees or providers of services to CERA. The Chief Executive or his
delegate will consider this information, assessing whether there is an actual,
potential or perceived conflict of interest that may arise in the course of your
duties. Failure to declare an actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest
may result in disciplinary action being taken, up to and including termination.

(a) Definition:

Conflict of Interest - a Conflict of Interest arises when a CERA employee's
responsibilities or duties to the Chief Executive could be affected by some other
interest that the employee may have. This is when some other interest may
reasonably be regarded as having a negative impact upon the employee's duty
to carry out his or her official role in the best interests of the Chief Executive.

A conflict of interest may be:

a. actual: where the conflict currently exists

b. potential: where the conflict is about to happen or could happen, or

C. perceived: where other people may reasonably think that a person is
compromised.

3. The above FTC's also all shared the following clause 4:
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PROFESSIONAL AND PERSONAL ETHICS

4.1 You are expected to display a high level or personal integrity in every aspect of
your role. You must also promote and enhance high ethical values and
standards, and good administrative practices, throughout the Public Service.

4.2 Guardianship and stewardship are central to your role. Your performance and
that of CERA are open to intense Parliamentary and public scrutiny. To meet the
expectations of this wider public service role, you are expected to demonstrate
a personal as well as professional level of commitment to the values and
behaviour appropriate to public administration. You must be, and must be seen
to be, scrupulous in your own use of public assets, facilities and funds.

4.3 In the same way, the development and management of business relationships,
including the letting of contracts and receipt of corporate hospitality, must be
subject to constant scrutiny to ensure there is nothing in the way in which these
relationships are managed which could be seen as less than ethical. The need
for absolute impartiality applies to the management of all such relationships,
including those with community, iwi and sectorial groups. You must strive to
avoid any situation that might give rise to a perception of conflict of interest.

4.4 All public servants have, as a matter of course, access to information of a political
and sensitive nature. You must ensure that any privileged or industry-specific
knowledge acquired in the course of your work is not used improperly, whether
to personal advantage or to the advantage of any subsequent employer.

45 Any breach of the obligations set out in this clause may be grounds for dismissal
and/or legal action.

4. And the following clause 28:
CONFIDENTIALITY
In this Agreement, "confidential" and "confidential information" means all confidential
information, which is not in the public domain and which is reasonably regarded by CERA

as confidential to it, and which you become aware of in the course of carrying out your
duties in accordance with this Agreement including, but not limited to:

information and records relating to customers, clients, suppliers and staff

Information concerning customers, clients and employees of CERA is to be treated with
complete confidentiality.

Confidential and sensitive information is not to be disclosed or discussed with any other

person or used by you, except in the proper performance of your duties or with the specific
approval of the Chief Executive.

Specifically, during the continuance of your employment, and after its termination (for
whatever reason) you shall:
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not use confidential information to your own benefit (whether direct or indirect) as distinct
from the benefit of CERA;

not use or attempt to use any confidential information in any manner that may injure or
cause loss, whether directly or indirectly, to CERA; and

not turn or attempt to turn personal knowledge of any confidential information to your
personal benefit as distinct from the benefit of CERA.

5. Many CERA Policies dealt with the conduct | encountered in the course of the investigation. The
following clause from each FTC attaches the rights and responsibilities contained in the CERA Policies
to the subjects:

CERA RULES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

5.1 CERA has policies and procedures, including a code of conduct and delegations,
which apply to you. These policies and procedures may be amended from time to time at
the discretion of the Chief Executive.

5.2 You will ensure that you are familiar with and comply with the Code of Conduct
and other policies and procedures that apply.

6. CERA appears to have had at least two Conflict of Interest Policies. One Conflict of Interest Policy
became effective in April 2011 (the first COI policy), this was superseded by a policy that became
effective on 1 May 2015 (the second COI policy). The first COI policy provides the following excerpts:

Page 1 - The decision-making of CERA employees must be undertaken in a spirit of service
to the community, reflecting the obligations to be fair, impartial, responsible, and
trustworthy.

Conflict of interest

A conflict of interest may arise when a CERA employee’s responsibilities or duties to the
Chief Executive could be affected by some other interest that the employee may have. The
test for a CERA employee, in assessing a possible conflict of interest, is whether some other
interest may reasonably be regarded as having a negative impact upon the employee’s duty
to carry out his or her official role in the best interests of the Chief Executive. In this policy,
the expression “conflicts of interest” includes conflicts of duty, conflicts of role, and bias.

Page 2 - A CERA employee’s other interests, past or present, that could lead to a conflict
include:

being an employee, advisor, director, or partner of another organisation or business
pursuing a business opportunity

Page 3 - Employee responsibility

A CERA employee with a conflict of interest or a potential conflict of interest must identify
it, and disclose it in a timely and effective manner, as follows:

if a matter in which an employee has a significant interest arises at a meeting, the employee
must declare to the meeting that he or she has an interest in the matter before it is
discussed; in other situations, including CERA’s procurement practices, employment
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practices, and the management of CERA contracts, the employee must raise and discuss the

potential for a conflict of interest with the employee’s manager(s) as soon as it is identified.
A disclosure of interests form, provided in the Appendix, may be used for this purpose.

Page 3 - Uncertain situations
If a CERA employee is uncertain whether or not a situation constitutes a conflict of interest

or potential conflict of interest, he or she should err on the side of caution by disclosing the
situation.

Page 4 - Updated disclosures of interest
The nature and scope of a CERA employee’s other interests can change daily. If the

circumstances of a conflict of interest change, the employee must update prior disclosures
in a timely manner.

Page 4 - Managing conflicts of interest

Interests Register

All CERA employees must complete the disclosure of interests form provided in the
Appendix, and provide the completed forms to the CERA staff member responsible for
human resources matters for retention in an Interests Register. If the circumstances of a
previously disclosed interest change, CERA employees must update the information in the
Interests Register in a timely manner. In addition, the Chief Executive may, in his or her

discretion, require CERA employees to undertake  periodic reviews of their disclosures
of interests, and to update the Interests Register accordingly.

Page 4 - Assessing a conflict of interest
The assessment of a conflict of interest includes consideration of the following:

e the overlap between the employee’s official role and his or her other interest,
regardless of whether misconduct may occur.

e the nature or size of the employee’s other interest

The second COl policy provides clauses that are substantially similar to the first COI policy,
however, it further provides:

Page 3 - Specific Instances

A CERA employee must not, without prior disclosure to and approval by his or her manager:

use any information gained in the course of employment with CERA to the employee's own
benefit (whether direct or indirect).

turn or attempt to turn personal knowledge of information gained in the course of
employment with CERA to the employee's personal benefit.
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7. The CERA Code of Conduct provides the following excerpts:

Page 2 -...this Code of Conduct...helps us...Provide the best possible service and advice to
the Government, general public and our strategic partners, gaining their trust and
confidence.

Page 3 -The Code of Conduct applies to all CERA employees including fixed term, temporary,
casual...

Page 3 - We avoid any activities, work related or non-work-related, that may in any way
bring CERA into disrepute or damage the relationship of trust and confidence between
CERA and Government, our strategic partners or the community. We take responsibility for
our own actions and decisions and challenge unethical or unprofessional behaviour

We work within our delegated authority, never abusing our position or power.

We do not tolerate actions or fraud or corruption and will report any suspicions we have or
become aware of, never turning a blind eye to this type of behaviour

Page 4 - Information and Confidentiality

Information which comes into our possession in the course of our duties is treated in
confidence and only used for official purposes

Page 4 - Conflicts of Interest

At CERA we must avoid any appearance or suggestion of preferential treatment or
favouritism towards any individual or organisation which we or you have an interest it.
Because we live and work in our communities, it is sometimes hard to avoid conflicts of
interest, whether real or perceived. That makes it even more important that conflicts of
interest are identified and managed when they can be and avoided when they cannot.

CERA has a policy and procedure to help you and your manager identify and manage
conflicts of interest that arise in the course of your work. You can find the policy for

managing conflicts of interests under forms and templates on CERAnet and the shared
drive.

Page 5 - Reporting breaches of the Code of Conduct

If you find out about a breach or possible breach of either the State Services Standards of
Integrity and Conduct or the CERA Code of Conduct, you should;

Think carefully about how you can deal with the situation responsibly
Discuss the issue or situation with your manager as quickly as possible - they may have

additional information you might not know, so trust them to know the best way to deal
with things
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Also use this process to report any breach of any other CERA policy, procedure, standard or
guideline, unless another process is provided.

In determining whether an employee's behaviour constitutes a breach of this Code, regard
should be had to the following factors;

The effects of the activity or its consequences on internal or external relationships and/or
CERA's reputation

Disciplinary measure will also apply to anyone who directs or approves infractions or has
knowledge of them and does not promptly move to correct them.

Page 6 - Serious Misconduct
The following are some specific examples of unsatisfactory behaviour that may be

considered serious misconduct and which could justify dismissal without notice following
due process

Carrying out any activity which may be considered to be in conflict with your employment
relationship and which is not authorised by your manager.

following excerpts:

Page 3 - Reasonable personal use of CERA's ICT systems is permissible (e.g., making
personal phone calls, receiving and sending personal emails or faxes, and accessing the
internet).

"Reasonable personal use" is use that does not interfere with employees' employment

duties or obligations, is not illegal, complies with the ethical and social standards of the
workplace, and is not contrary to the interests of CERA

Page 4 - CERA's ICT systems may not be used by any person for the following purposes:

to solicit for personal gain or profit.
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APPENDIX 5 - Interviewees

List of people contacted by the investigative team with information relevant to the inquiry:

1.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

Roger Sutton - former CEO, CERA

John Ombler - former CEO, CERA

Albert Brantley — CEO, Otakaro

Bronwyn Arthur - former General Counsel, CERA
Patricia Noble - former In-house counsel, CERA
Ewen McKenzie — Tulla Group

John Macculloch — Tulla Group

Melissa Paton - DPMC

Caroline Harvie (Fleetwood) - former CERA HR
Sally Bird - DPMC

Mark Wells - YHA CEO

Baden Ewart - former CERA manager

Warrick Isaacs - former CERA manager

Anne Shaw - DPMC

David Dynes

James Hay - former CERA manager

Huia Gordon - Global Structures Group, Australia
Nigel Trainor — South Canterbury DHB

Martin van Beynen — Journalist

9(2)(a) privacy

Sheila McBreen-Kerr — former CERA manager

Gerard Dale — partner Lane Neave

Final Report
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Appendix 6 — Canterbury DHB chronology

17 October 2012 - Board Meeting- Board recommended the evaluation of viable alternatives for the future
exit of non-patient services from the Princess Margaret Hospital.

15 May 2014 - CDHB'’s Board endorsed relocating CDHB’s Corporate Services from The Princess Margaret
Hospital to a leased facility within the Health Precinct.

April 2014 - CDHB’s Property/Lease Administrator contacted by agent representing the owner of 32 Oxford
Terrace regarding availability of potential space at 32 Oxford Terrace.

June 2014 - CDHB'’s Property/Lease Administrator contacted various agents to assist with identifying
potential premises for CDHB’s Corporate Office. This included initial discussions and receipt of proposals
from potential Landlords, of which 32 Oxford Terrace was one.

July 2014 - Management decision made to carry out an open tendering process inviting expressions of
interest (EOI’s) from Landlords who had potential suitable premises.

August 2014 - EOI’s put out on the Government Electronic Tendering System (GETS), of which one response
received was from the landlord of 32 Oxford Terrace.

October 2014 - Following evaluation of 15 EOI submissions, five potentially suitable premises were
shortlisted. 105 St Asaph Street and 32 Oxford Terrace were in the shortlist.

October 2014 - Additional questions were submitted to the five shortlisted respondents.

September 2014 - the Evaluation Committee’s short list evaluation ranked 105 St Asaph Street as the top
preferred property. 32 Oxford Terrace was the second preferred option.

28 October 2014 - QFARC meeting- paper recommended negotiation with the landlords of the two top
preferred options (105 St Asaph Street and 32 Oxford Terrace). The Minutes of that meeting recommend
negotiation with the owner of 105 St Asaph Street only.

13 November 2014 - Board meeting- the Board, as recommended by QFARC, delegated authority for CDHB
to negotiate with the landlord of 105 St Asaph Street.

November 2014 - After informing the landlord of 32 Oxford Terrace that his property was not the top
preferred option, a revised rental offer was presented. The new rental offered was the same rental rate as
the 105 St Asaph Street property. It was also a consented building and was scheduled to be ready for
occupation earlier than 105 St Asaph Street.

28 November 2014 - The Evaluation Committee met to further evaluate the top two preferred options,
concluding that CDHB should instead move to secure 32 Oxford Terrace.

2 December 2014 - CDHB’s CEO signed the Heads of Agreement to Lease for 32 Oxford Terrace, conditional
on CDHB'’s formal Board approval within three working days.

5 December 2014 - the Board’s Chair, by exercise of emergency delegation: (i) approved entry into the Heads
of Agreement to Lease and approved satisfaction of the Board approval condition; and (ii) approved signature
of the final Agreement to Lease by the CEO.

19 December 2014 - The Agreement to Lease for 32 Oxford Terrace signed.

16 July 2015 - A Facilities Sub- Committee of the Board was established with appointments approved by the
Board on 17 September 2015 and 19 November 2015. Remuneration discussions were confirmed directly
between the appointees and the Chair
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11 December 2015 - Silverfin Capital Limited was incorporated, and Cheryl Macaulay was appointed
Managing Director on incorporation.

18 January 2016 - The Deed of Lease for 32 Oxford Terrace was signed.
1 May 2016 - Murray Cleverley was appointed a Director of Silverfin Capital Limited.

3 May 2016 - Facilities Committee meeting- Interest Register recorded Cheryl Macaulay’s interest as
Managing Director of Silverfin Capital Limited.

19 May 2016 - Board meeting- the Chair advised the Board that he would advise the Board Secretariat of new
interests for the next Board meeting.

30 May 2016 - Board meeting- Minutes record the Chair’s disclosure of an interest as Director of Silverfin
Capital Limited.

16 June 2016 — Board meeting- Interest Register recorded the Board Chair’s interest as Director of Silverfin
Capital Limited.

1 August 2016 - Facilities Committee- the Chair advised that Silverfin Capital Limited, a company for which
he was Director and Cheryl Macaulay is Managing Director, was in the process of purchasing 32 Oxford
Terrace and that this was not expected to pose a conflict but was important that the Facilities Committee
was aware of the interest.

18 August 2016 - Board Meeting- the Chair declared a potential perceived conflict of interest with Silverfin
Capital Limited looking to purchase 32 Oxford Terrace.

15 December 2016 - CDHB notified by the Landlord’s solicitor that 32 Oxford Terrace had been sold by Oxford
32 Limited to TEA Custodians (Silverfin) Limited.
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Investment / Commercial Relations Weekly Report 06/04/14

Name: Gerard Gallagher

Last Week
Meeting/ discussion with Outcomes & potential
9(2)(a) privacy Investigating the acquisition of 159 Hereford

Street — provided Intel of what is planned for the
area, what some other opportunities are and
statistics of demand for worker, back packers and
accommodation in general. Provided information
on neighbouring sites.

Potential to repair and develop 159 Hereford into
a modern Back Packers

9(2)(a) privacy
9(2)(a) privacy

Positive response from them to investors list for
the 9(2)(a) project however9(2)(a)

have managed the process poorly and some
investors have not been contacted from the list
provided9(2)(a) have adequate investors
willing to fund the project — the question is can
they get them to agree on the risk.

9(2)(a) privacy

Discussed their High Street development and the
issues they are having with CCC changing the
appravals of the Consent in regards what they
can do. They have their Lawyers involved and
may come to us soon for help.

9(2)(a) privacy

Variety of Innovation Precinct projects being
planned — require a neighbouring g(2)$a)
report, require information on land available to
purchase for §(2)(a)
proposal for tBﬁ 9(2)(a)

, interested in a

Next fortnight planned Mtgs.

Meeting/discussion with

Planned outcome

9(2)(a) Innovation —9(2)(a) offer reviewed
9(2)(a) privacy 19(2)(a)
9(2)(a) privacy 159 Hereford Street offer support
9(2)(a) Business appropriate for Innovation??
9(2)(a) Progress with MBIE as a tenant and 9(2)(a)
tidy up section
' 9(2)(a) privacy 9(2)(a) privacy follow up
| 9(2)(a) Site in Innovation B
9(2)(a) privacy 9(2)(a) privacy _site Innovation

Potential opportunity for Minister,
engagements

Roger, Warwick to be involved in
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Investment / Commercial Relations Weekly Report 7/ 4/14

Name: Simon Nikoloff

Last Week
Meeting/ discussion with Outcomes & potential

9(2)(a) privac Researching investment in accom / office / car
()@ p ¥ parking in central city, keen to invest early — sees
advantage in early investment.

9(2)(a) privacy 9(2)(a) to research new tourism backpacker and
accommeodation business cases to meet
commercial need at new market price points.
This research will be funded from sources yet to
be identified 9(2)(@) will provide an outline and
sot by early May.

9(2)(a) privac Assistance for Back Packers develooment &
(2X@p ¥ Residential accom development 9(2)(a)
undertake a major building programime with up to
another 100 residential units. Mixed offices and
residential and poss child care

9(2)(a) privacy Planning assistance for 9(2)(a) privacy
developments and accommadation
conversions.
9(2)(a) privacy General discussion on tourism accommodation

issues and opportunities matters. Focus is on
establishing backpacker's accommodation.

9(2)(a) privacy Discuss employment support issues /
opportunities in growing labour market

Next fortnight planned mtgs

Meeting/discussion with Planned outcome
| 9(2)(a) privacy Davidson House options for Davidson house building
YHA Backpacker opportunities witr9(2)(a)

accommodation conversion

9(2)(a) (Singaporean hotel investors) Investment opportunities in worker and visitor
accommodation.
| 9(2)(a) privacy Resources to offer for rebuild projects
9(2)(a) privacy Investment in Innovation Precinct with interest in the

9(2)(a) _office project, and will look at other projects.

2
Potential opportunity for Minister, Roger, Warwick to be involved in
engagemen

NIL to report
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Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority
Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

E: steve.clarke@cera.govi.nz
M: 9(2)(a)
P: +64 33542636

Gerard Gallagher
CCoU
Investment Facilitator

+64 3 3520971 Work
9(2)(a) lMaohite
gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz

Simon Nikoloff
ccou
Investment Facilitator

+64 3 3542688 Work
9(2)(a) IMobite
simon.nikoloff@cera.govt.nz
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- This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and
subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or

duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the

author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery

Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission
from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govi.nz. -

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact me immediately,

destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you. Please note that this communication does not
designate an information system for the purpeses of the Electronic Transactions Act 2002."
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9(2)(a)
Proposal to purchase 209 High Street - Confidential

The following is to confirm interest to purchase 209 High Street from you by a ‘yet to be
formalised’ company named Project and Investment Management Ltd (PIML). One of the
shareholders of this company will be Gerard Gallagher and at this stage Gerard is acting as
independent Agent from a personal interest. There will be 2 other shareholders of PIML.

Gerard has declared his potential conceived conflict in regards his role at CERA and this
potential conceived conflict is mitigated due to this offer being of a personal commercial
nature, outside of Gerard’s role at CERA.

If you are interested in proceeding with the suggested path forward PIML will formalise the
offer into a Sale and Purchase Agreement through PIML's Lawyer.

PIML'’s proposal is to purchase the 139M? section at 209 High Street, Christchurch under the
following terms and Conditions.

1. Purchase Price of $300,000 (plus GST if any) plus interest as shown in 3 below.
2. Settlement date will be 12 months following:

a. Formal agreement that PIML has access to the site to commence

construction prior to 2b. below

b. The signing of a formal Sale and Purchase agreement
Interest of $15,000 to be due and paid on settlement date
Total due at settlement will be $315,000 plus GST if any
Possession and physical access to the site to be immediately on signing of
agreement
Penalty interest of 10% p.a. will be paid on total owing at settlement if payment is
delayed after the 12 month period
7. No deposit will be required to be paid

o orw
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28" July 2014

9(2)(a) privacy

Proposal to purchase 209 High Street - Confidential

Following on from our conversations, | confirm an interest to purchase 209 High Street by a
‘vet to be formalised’ company, Project and Investment Management Ltd (PIML).

| am acting as an agent for that company and will be a shareholder of this company along
with 2 other shareholders. In case of any potential conflict, | have declared this interest to my
employer CERA.

Proposal
PIML’s proposal is to purchase the vacant 139M? section, (Kennett's Jewellers site) at 209

High Street, Christchurch under the following Terms and Conditions:
1. Purchase Price of $300,000 (plus GST if any) plus interest as follows;
a) Confirmation will be 30 days after signing agreement
b) Possession and access to the site upon confirmation
c) Settlement date will be 12 months following confirmation
d) No deposit will be required to be paid

e) Purchase price is plus interest of $15,000 due and paid on settiement date,
(total due at settlement $315,000 plus GST if any)

f) Penalty interest of 10% p.a. for late settlement

2. The proposed development will be known as “Kennett House” or an alternative name
you would like.

Naturally | urge you to take independent advice and if you wish to proceed with the above
offer, PIML will formalise the offer into a formal Sale and Purchase Agreement through
PIML’s lawyer. Please let me know the selling entity and details, and your lawyers /
accountants details.

Kind regards
Gerard Gallagher
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" 21132017 View All Details BVL01.004

Additional company information

Trading Name:

Website:

Phane:

Email:

Business Classification:M696205 Business consultant service

Premise Address:

NZSX Code:

The following information has been voluntarily provided by the company and any
gueries relating to it should be directed to the company. This information does ~
not form part of the companies register and the Registrar is not responsible for

maintaining it.

Directors (1)

Full legal name: Simon Carl NIKOLOFF

Residential Address: 9(2)(a) privacy

New Zealand

Appointment Date: 13 Aug 2014
Consent: View Consent Form

hitps /fwww_companiesoffice.govi.nz/com panies/appluifpages/com panies/5408561/detail Phackurl=% 2F com panies% 2F app%2Fui%2F pages%2F companie...  2/4
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Thank you & kind regards
Simon Nikoloff
Investment Facilitator

Greater Christchurch Investment Stratgey
Christchurch Central Development Unit
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority — CERA
HSBC Building

62 Waorcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999

Christchurch 8140

P: +64 3 3542600 ext: 309502

M9(2)(a) |

E: simon.nikoloff@cera.govt.nz

W: www.cera.govi.nz

This email and any attachments may contain information that is
confidential and subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use,
dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have
received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email
and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no
responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments afier transmission from CERA.
For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz,

“This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact
me immediately, destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you. Please note
that this communication does not designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act 2002."
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P: 464 3 3542600 ext: 30902
M:9(2)(a)

E: simon.nikoloffi@cera.govi.nz
W: www.cera.govt.nz

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and
subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or
duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the
author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery
Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission
from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz.

"This communication, induding any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact me immediately,
destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you. Please note that this communication does not
designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act 2002." :

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and
subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or
duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the
author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery
Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission
from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz. -

"This communication, induding any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact me immediately,
destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you. Please note that this communication does not
designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act 2002." )

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and
subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or
duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the
author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery
Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission
from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz.

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact me immediately,
destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you. Please note that this communication does not
designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act 2002." )
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From: Gerard Gallagher

Sent: 04/09/2014 17:02

To: 'Mark Wells'

Cc: Simon Nikoloff

Subject: RE: Building Manchester 5t

Hi Mark,

Simon is away fomorrow but | may be able to meet with you — I am fully aware of the site and Investors position.
[ will try to contact the Investor/developer and confirm with you in the morning,.

Kind regards
Gerard

Gerard Gallagher

Investiment Facilitator

Christehurch Central Development Unit (CCDUY
Canterbury FEarthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8144

M 9(2)(a)

0 03 3520971

E: gerard.gallagher@icera.govinz
Wi WIWW.Cera. govi.ng

From: Mark Wells 9(2)(a) privacy

Sent: Thursday, 4 September 2014 4:33 p.m.
To: Simon Nikoloff

Cc: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Simon

| left a message on your phone to indicate that | would be interested in meeting.

it would be good to do so before my Board meeting i.e. sometime tomarrow. | could do anytime up until 3pm.
Regards

Mark Wells
Chief Executive

YHA New Zealand National Office
Level 1, 166 Moorhouse Ave, PO Box 436, Christchurch 8140

9(2)(a) privacy

Help us reduce our CO2! Vote for New Zealand!
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BVL01.032

Regards

Mark Wells
Chief Executive

[cidiimage001.jpg@01CFCC28.F98DC650]

YHA New Zealand National Office

Level 1. 166 Moorhouse Ave. PO Box 436. Christchurch 8140
9(2)(a) privacy

[cid:image009.jpg@01CFCC28.F9F67330]Help us reduce our CO2! Vote for New
Zealand<hitp://blog hihostels.com/sustainability/AINEWZEALAND>!

Hostelling International is giving away $50,000 to a worthwhile sustainability project.
Your vote<http://hlog.hihostels.com/sustainability ANEWZEALAND> counts!

For direct hostel bookings visit www.yha.co.nz<hutp://www.vha.co.nz’> or Freephone: 0800 278 299
Follow us online:
[cid:image004.png@01CFCC28.F98DC650]<https://plus.google. com/u/0/b/10905076375005622 171 1/109050763750056221711> [ci

d:image005.png@0 1CFCC28.F98DC650]
<http:/‘www.facebook.com/Y HANewZealand> [cid:image006.png@01CFCC28.F98DC650]

<htips://www.yeutube.com/Y HANewZealand>  [cid:image007.png@01CFCC28.F98DC650]
<http://www.twitter.com/YHANewZealand> [cid:image008 png@01CFCC28 F98DC650] <http://weibo.com/yhanewzealand>

P Please consider the environment before printing this email

From: Gerard Gallagher [mailio: Gerard.Gallagher(@cera.govt.nz]
Sent: Friday, 5 September 2014 2:33 p.m.

To: Mark Wells '

Cc: Simon Nikoloff

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Mark,

Thanks for that.

The investor is happy that I sign the Confidentiality Agreement (see attached) and confirms that he will make a decision to submit an
offer within 2 weeks (maximum - potentially sooner) of receipt of the engineering and other documents we discussed.

He has also confirmed he would like a fast unconditional process if possible - with the general intent of settlement in October 2014.

I look forward to hearing after the weekend what your board decide and receipt of the documentation.

Kind regards
Gerard

Gerard Gallagher

Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

M: 9(2)(@@)
DD1: 03 3520 971
E: gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz<mailto:gerard. gallagher(wcera. govinz>

2
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w: www.cera.govt.nz<htip://'www cera.govt.nz/>

From: Mark Wells 9(2)(a) privacy

Sent: Friday, 5 September 2014 10:39 a.m.
To: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Gerard
Good to meet .. and Confidentiality Agreement attached as discussed.
Regards

Mark Wells
Chief Executive

[cid:image001.jpg@01CFCC28.F98DC650]

YHA New Zealand National Office
Level 1, 166 Moorhouse Ave, PO Box 436, Christchurch 8140
9(2)(a) privacy

[cid:image011.jpg@01CFCC28.F9F67330]Help us reduce our CO2! Vote for New
Zealand<hutp://blog hihostels.com/sustainability/ #NEWZEAL AND>!

Hostelling International is giving away $50,000 to a worthwhile sustainability project.
Your vote<http://blog.hihostels.com/sustainability/ EANEWZEAL AND= counts!

For direct hostel bookings visit www.yha.co.nz<http://www.yha.co.nz’> or Freephone: 0800 278 299

Follow us online:

[cid:image004.png@01CFCC28.F98DC650]<htips://plus.coogle.com/u/W/b/109050763750056221711/109050763750056221711> [ci
d:image005.png@01CFCC28.F98DC650]

<http://www.facehook.com/Y HANewZealand> [cid:image006.png@01CFCC28.F98DC650]

<https://www.voutube.com/Y HANewZealand> [cid:image007.png@0 1CFCC28.F98DC650]

P Please consider the environment before printing this email

From: Gerard Gallagher [mailto:Gerard. Gallagherficera. govinz]
Sent: Friday, 5 September 2014 7:53 a.m.

To: Mark Wells

Cc: Simon Nikoloff

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Morning Mark,
I could not contact the Investor overnight however I am happy to meet with you to discuss his approach.

How would you be placed at 10am here at CERA - HSBC building 64 Worcester Blvd. If you come up to Level 8 reception and ask
for me. A colleague will sit in on the meeting with me as well.

If 10am is no good then 11am is OK for me as well

Thanks
Gerard
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Gerard Gallagher

Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

M: 9(2)(a)

DDI: 03 3520 971

E: gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz<mailto:gerard.gallagher(@cera. govt.nz>

W: www.cera.govt.nz<htip://www.cera. govt nz/>

From: Mark Wells 9(2)(a) privacy >

Sent: Thursday, 4 September 2014 5:32 p.m.
To: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St
Cheers -

Sent from my Windows Phone

From: Gerard Gallagher<mailto:Gerard. Gallagher(@ cera.govi.nz>
Sent: 204/209/22014 17:02

To: 'Mark Wells'9(2)(a) privacy

Cc: Simon Nikoloff<mailto:Simon.Nikoloff@cera. govt.nz>
Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Mark,

Simon is away tomorrow but I may be able to meet with you - | am fully aware of the site and Investors position.
I will try to contact the Investor/developer and confirm with you in the morning.

Kind regards
Gerard

Gerard Gallagher

Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

M: 9(2)(a)

DDI: 03 3520 971

E: gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz<mailio:gerard. gallagher@cera. govt.nz>
W: www cera.govt.nz<hitp://www cera.govt.nz/>

From: Mark Wells 9(2)(a) privacy

Sent: Thursday, 4 Scptember 2014 4:33 p.m.

To: Simon Nikoloff

Cec: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Simon

I left a message on your phone to indicate that I would be interested in meeting.

It would be good to do so before my Board meeting i.e. sometime tomorrow. I could do anytime up until 3pm.

Regards

Mark Wells
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Chief Executive
[cid:image001.jpg@01CFC861.C0659760]

YHA New Zealand National Office
Level 1. 166 Moorhouse Ave. PO Box 436. Christchurch 8140
9(2)(a) privacy

[cid:image009.jpg@01CFC861.CCFA4390]Help us reduce our CO2! Vote for New
Zealand<htip://blog hihostels.com/sustainability/ SANEW ZEALAND>!
Hostelling International is giving away $50,000 to a worthwhile sustainability project.

For direct hostel bookings visit www.yha.co.nz<http://www.yha.co.nz> or Freephone: 0800 278 299
Follow us online:

[cid:image004.png@01CFC861.C0659760]<https://plus.google.com/w/0/b/ 109050763 750056221711/109050763750056221711> [ci
d:image005.png@01CFCB861.C0659760]

<http://www.facebook.com/Y HANewZealand> [cid:image006.png@01CFC861.C0659760]

<https://www.youtube.com/Y HANewZealand> [cid:image007.png@01CFC861.C0659760]
<http:/www.twitter.com/YHANewZealand> [cid:image008.png@01CFC861.C0659760] <htip://weibo.com/vhanewzealand>

P Please consider the environment before printing this email

From: Simon Nikoloff [mailto:Simon. Nikoloff@cera. govi.nz]
Sent: Thursday, 4 September 2014 12:19 p.m.

To: Mark Wells '

Cc: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: Building Manchester St

Good morning Mark,

Following on from our conversation earlier today and meeting a few weeks back, I confirm we are working with a party who have
expressed interest in purchasing this building.

The party are serious, commercially experienced buyers and will complete their due diligence expediently. Terms and conditions are
expected to be minimal, i.e. subject to engineering reports and usual due diligence. )

They intend to redevelop the site into commercial space in the future. In the interim may use it for worker accommodation subject to
engineering and relevant approvals. The price indication is "fair value" based on current land prices plus residual value on the building
depending on engineering reports, indicated in the vicinity of $2 - $2.5.m '
If you would like to discuss this in more detail please contact me directly and I will arrange a meeting. Best contact is my mobile 9(

or this email. ' ' ' ' ' 2)
Thank you & kind regards
Simon Nikoloff
Investment Facilitator
Greater Christchurch Investment Stratgey
Christchurch Central Development Unit

Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority - CERA
HSBC Building
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62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999

Christchurch 8140

P: +64 3 3542600 ext: 30902

M:9(2)(a)

E: simon.nikoloffi@cera.govt.nz<mailto:simon.nikoloff@cera. govt.nz>
W: www.cera.govt.nz<http://'www cera govt.nz/> )

‘This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege.
If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If
you have received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after
transmission from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz<h{lp://WWww.cera.govL.nz>, —=-m--see=ce-n

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please
contact me immediately, destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you.
Please note that this communication does not designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act
2002."

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege.
If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If
you have received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The

Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please
contact me immediately, destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you.
Please note that this communication does not designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act
2002."

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege.
If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If
you have received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after
transmission from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz<hitp://Www.cera.govi.nz>, -——m-ms=mem-—

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please
contact me immediately, destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you.
Please note that this communication does not designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act
2002."

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege.
If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If
you have received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after
transmission from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera. govt.nz<htip:// Www,.cera.govLnzs, =—-em-mem--

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please
contact me immediately, destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you.
Please note that this communication does not designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act
2002."

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended
recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this
email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake
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BVL01.040

Also, we need some indications on the income and management fee structure for managing the ongoing tenancies by
PIMCO

What was the name of your CEO again?

Kind Regards
9(2)(a) privacy

QVQST  This email is free from viruses and malware because avast! Antivirus protection is active.

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and
subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or
duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the
author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery
Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission
from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz.

QVASt  This email is free from viruses and malware because avast! Antivirus protection is active.
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BVL01.046

Sent: Friday, 5 September 2014 2:33 p.m.
To: Mark Wells

Cc: Simon Nikoloff

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Mark,

Thanks for that.

The investor is happy that I sign the Confidentiality Agreement (see attached) and confirms that he will make a decision to submit an
offer within 2 weeks (maximum - potentially sooner) of receipt of the engineering and other documents we discussed.

He has also confirmed he would like a fast unconditional process if possible - with the general intent of settlement in October 2014.

I look forward to hearing after the weekend what your board decide and receipt of the documentation.

Kind regards
Gerard

Gerard Gallagher

Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

M: 9(2)(a)

DDI: 03 3520971

E: gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz<mailto;gerard. gallagher@cera. covi.nz>
W: WWW.cera.govt.nz<hitp://www.cera.govt.nz/>

From: Mark Wellsg(Q)(a) privécy

Sent: Friday, 5 September 2014 10:39 a.m.
To: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Gerard
Good to meet .. and Confidentiality Agreement attached as discussed.

Regards

Mark Wells
Chief Executive

[cid:imaged0 ] jpe@01 CFCC28 F983DC650]

YHA New Zealand National Office
Level 1, 166 Moorhouse Ave, PO Box 436, Christchurch 8140
9(2)(a) privacy

[cid:imagel ] jpe@O 1 CFCC28.F9F67350]Help us reduce our CO2! Vote for New
Zealand<http://blog hihosiels.com/sustainability/ANEWZEALAND>!

Hostelling International is giving away $50,000 to a worthwhile sustainability project.
Your vote<htip://blog. hihostels.com/sustainability/ ANEWZEA LAND> counts!

For direct hostel bookings visit www.yha.co.nz<hutp://www.yha.co.nz’> or Freephone: 0800 278 299

Follow us online:

3
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diimagel05. pne(@0 1 CFCCZE.FIBDC650]

<http://www.facehook.com/Y HANewZealand> [cidiimage006.png@01CFCC28.F98DC650]

P Please consider the environment before printing this email

From: Gerard Gallagher [mailto:Gerard.Gallagher@icera.govt.nz]
Sent: Friday, 5 September 2014 7:53 a.m.

To: Mark Wells

Cc: Simon Nikoloff

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Morning Mark,
1 could not contact the Investor overnight however 1 am happy to meet with you to discuss his approach.

How would you be placed at 10am here at CERA - HSBC building 64 Worcester Blvd. If you come up to Level § reception and ask
for me. A colleague will sit in on the meeting with me as well. )

If 10am is no good then 11am is OK for me as well
Thanks -
Gerard

Gerard Gallagher

Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

M 9(2)(a)

DDI: 03 3520 971

E: gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz<mailto:gerard. gallagher@cera.govt.nz>
W: www.cera.govt.nz<htip.//www.cera.govt.nz/>

From: Mark Wells9(2)(a) privacy
Sent: Thursday, 4 September 2014 5:32 p.m.

To: Gerard Gallagher
Subject: RE: Building Manchester St
Cheers

Sent from my Windows Phone

From: Gerard Gallagher<mailto:Gerard. Gallagher@cera. govt.nz>
Sent: 204/709/72014 17:02

To: 'Mark Wells'9(2)(a) privacy _

Cc: Simon Nikoloff<mailto:Simon.Nikoloffiaicera.govi.nz>
Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Mark,

Simon is away tomorrow but I may be able to meet with you - I am fully aware of the site and Investors position.
I will try to contact the Investor/developer and confirm with you in the morning. )

Kind regards
Gerard ~
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“Gerard Gallagher
Investment Facilitator
Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard '
Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

M: 9(2)(a)

DDI: 03 3520 971

E: gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz<mailto.gerard.gallagher(@cera. govi.nz>
W: WWW,CEra.govt.nz<hitp.//www.cera.govi.nz/> )

From: Mark Wells 9(2)(a) privacy

Sent: Thursday, 4 September 2014 4:33 p.m.
To: Simon Nikoloff

Cc: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: RE: Building Manchester St

Hi Simon
1 left a message on your phone to indicate that 1 would be interested in meeting.
1t would be good to do so before my Board meeting i.e. sometime tomorrow. I could do anytime up until 3pm.

Regards

Mark Wells
Chief Executive

[cid:image001.ipe@0 1 CFC861.C0659760]

YHA New Zealand National Office
Level 1, 166 Moorhouse Ave, PO Box 436, Christchurch 8140
9(2)(a) privacy

[cid:imagel09. ipe@di CEFC861.CCFA4390]Help us reduce our CO2! Vote for New

Hostelling International is giving away $50,000 to a worthwhile sustainability project.
Your vote<hitp://blog hihostels.com/sustainability NEWZEALAND> counts!

For direct hostel bookings visit www.yha.co.nz<hitp://www.vha co.nz> or Freephone: 0300 278 299

Follow us online:

d:imagel05 png@d 1 CFC861.C0659760]

<http://www.facehook.com/Y HANewZealand> [cid:image006.png@0 1CFC861.C0659760]
<https://'www.youtube.com/YHANewZealand> [cid:image007. png@0 1 CFCR61.C0659760]

<http:/www twitter.com/Y HANewZealand> [cid:image008.pne@0 1 CFC861.C0659760] <http://weibo.com/vhanewzealand>

P Please consider the environment before printing this email

From: Simon Nikoloff [mailto:Simen.Nikeloft@cera.govinz]
Sent: Thursday, 4 September 2014 12:19 p.m.

To: Mark Wells

Cc: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: Building Manchester St
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Good morning Mark,

Following on from our conversation earlier today and meeting a few weeks back, I confirm we are working with a party who have
expressed interest in purchasing this building. ' o

The party are serious, commercially experienced buyers and will complete their due diligence expediently. Terms and conditions are
expected to be minimal, i.e. subject to engineering reports and usual due diligence. B ) )

They intend to redevelop the site into commercial space in the future. In the interim may use it for worker accommodation subject to
engineering and relevant approvals. The price indication is "fair value" based on current land prices plus residual value on the building
depending on engineering reports, indicated in the vicinity of $2 - $2.5.m ) ) '

If vou would like to discuss this in more detail please contact me directly and I will arrange a meeting. Best contact is my mobile
9(2)(@)  or this email.

Thank you & kind regards
Simon Nikoloff
Investment Facilitator

Greater Christchurch Investment Stratgey
Christchurch Central Development Unit

Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority - CERA
HSBC Building

62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999

Christchurch 8140

P: +64 3 3542600 ext: 30902

M:9(2)(a)

E! simon.nikoloffi@cera.govt.nz<mailto:simon.nikoloffi@cera.covt.nz>
W: www.cera.govt.nz<http://www.cera.govt.nz>

--—- This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege.
If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If
you have received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after
transmission from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz<http://WWWw.cera. govi.nz>, «-seermmaeee

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please
contact me immediately, destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you.
Please note that this communication does not designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act
2002."

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege.
If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If
vou have received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after
transmission from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz<http://Www.cera.govt.nz>. ——-------—-—-

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please
contact me immediately, destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you.
Please note that this communication does not designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act
2002."

This email and any attachmenis may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal privilege.

6 . -
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Please find attached an offer for YHA's property located at 273 Manchester Street, Christchurch for YHA's consideration.
I look forward to hearing from you in due course.

Kind regards
Ashley

Ashley Taggart
Partner

Lane Neave
137 Victoria Street, Christchurch 8013 St s
PO Box 2331, Christchurch 8140

9(2)(a) privacy

voted the best
insurance lawyers
in New Zealand

IMPORTANT NOTICES

The views expressed in this communication are not necessarily those of Lane Neave, unless stated otherwise.
This email and accompanying attachments contain information that is confidential and may be subject to legal
privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not read, use, distribute or copy the contents of this
email. If you have received this email in error, please notify us immediately by reply email or collect telephone
to +64 3 379 3720 and delete the original email together with all attachments. Lane Neave does not accept
responsibility for: (a) any changes to this email or its attachments; or (b) for any attachments made by others,
after we have transmitted it.

Lane Neave does not represent or warrant that this email or files attached to this email are free from computer
viruses or other defects. Any attached files are provided, and may only be used, on the basis that the user
assumes all responsibility for any loss, damage or consequence resulting directly or indirectly from their use.
The liability of Lane Neave is limited in any event to either the re-supply of the attached files or the cost of
having the attached files re-supplied.
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The structural engineers report attached outlines that additional cross bracing is to be
added in the ceilings of both floors and restraint ties fitted to the masonry infill between
the columns and fire doors repaired to bring it up to code. Note the cross bracing is in
piace of the ply bracing which was shown as an alternative method. We have allowed for
structural repairs, refurbishment, painting, carpets and general make over as a result of
the quakes and some vandalism. This work is labour intensive and will return the
building to an acceptable standard for occupation.

2. Overseas workers on company contracts to supply / install equipment etc - awaiting
reply from immigration agent. ' '

3. Apartment development information from conversations with agents and developers and
observations of the market. The East Frame is a prime site and will command a premium
price. The purpose of the East Frame is to show case and stimulate inner city living.
Therefore this is a significant project that for a variety of reasons must be assured of
every success. A key risk is lower grade developments in this location which would
impact the concept of inner city living and reduce the appeal of all inner city living
projects. ' ' ) ' ' i

The East Frame development will reflect the value the Crown needs to recover from the
land purchase and preparation, i.e. maximise benefits and value, not necessarily
maximise the price and the value of the location. The final developer selection process is
underway and will be announced in depending on the process to finalise negotiations,
late 2014 or early 2015.

In the absence of a finalised, consented development plan, thinking about the practical
timeframes then it would seem logical:

I. most of 2015 will be taken up with planning, designing and consenting
Il. 1t seem reasonable to expect to see earth turned mid to late 2015
lll. marketing will commence (sell off plans) when planning and design is
completed - later 2015 or early 2106
IV. first apartments completed and ready to occupy mid to late 2016
V. time to construct about 850 apartments and surrounding public realm will take
considerable time '
VI. apartments will be premium grade therefore prices will be at a premium
VIl. premium prices may dissuade absent land owners, i.e. commercial investors
VIIl. flooding the market with unsold apartments will depress prices

9(2)(a) privacy
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9(2)(a) privacy

On the YHA building, if you have any questions please direct them to me. We are very excited
about this project and are looking forward to partnering successfully with you so that we can be
comfortable to work on other projects together too. We will need to know if you wish to commit
by the end of this week to confirm with the vendor next week. Settlement date to be confirmed.

Thank you & kind regards
Simon Nikoloff

M: 9(2)(a)
E: simon.nikoloff@cera.govt.nz
W: www.cera.govt.nz

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to
legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this email
and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the author immediately and erase
all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no
responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission from CERA. For further
information about CERA, please visit www cera.govt.nz.

<YHA Engineers Report.pdf><YHA - Christchurch Development Opportunities - October 2014.docx>
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Cc: Simon Nikoloff
Subject: RE: 273 Manchester Street - NIK641/1

Hi Ashley,
A couple of small things to change (check) but rest OK to sign and go

1. Nate under Deposit Clause page 1 — the word that is crossed out in hand should be removed??
2. Clause 28.1 — should 5 be five (5) — and the same in clause 22.3 77

Everything else OK
Cheers
Gerard

Gerard Gallagher

Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA)
62 Worcester Boulevard i
Private Bag 4999, Christchurch 8140

T E) - B

E: gerard.gallagher@cera.govi.nz
WV: www .cera govi.nz

From: Ashley Taggart 9(2)(a) privacy

Sent: Thursday, 25 September 2014 11:26 a.m.
To: Gerard Gallagher; Simon Nikoloff

Ce: 9(2)(a) privacy

Subject: 273 Manchester Street - NIK641/1

Hi Gerard and Simon

Please find attached the updated offer (Agreement for Sale and Purchase) in relation to the Manchester Street property. |
would be grateful if you could review the Agreement and contact me to discuss any changes and/or to approve. '

Look forward to hearing from you.

Kind regards
Ashley

Ashley Taggart
Partner

Lane Neave
137 Victoria Street, Christchurch 8013 E A it e ete]
PO Box 2331, Christchurch 8140

9(2)(a) privacy

voted the best
insurance lawyers
in New Zealand

IMPORTANT NOTICES
The views expressed in this communication are not necessarily those of Lane Neave, unless stated otherwise.
2
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Ninth Edition 2012 (2)
SCHEDULE 2
(GST Information — see clause 14.0)

This Schedule must be completed if the vendor has stated on the front page that the vendor Is registered under the GST Act in respect
of the transaction evidenced by this agreement andfor will be so registered at settlement. Othenwise there s no need to complete it.

Section 1

1. The vendor's registration number (if already registered): - 141664
2 The purchaser is registered under the GST Act andfor will be so registered at settiement. YesfiNe
3 The purchaser intends at selflement to use the property for making taxable supplles Yesiie
If the answer to elther or both of guestions 2 and 3 is "No', go to question 6
4, The purchaser's detalls are as follows:
(a) Full name:Manchester §t273 Limitod
{b) Address:TnA

(¢) Redlstration humber (If already registared): TBA

5, The purchaser Intends at setilement to use the property as a principal place of residence by the purchaser ora | ¥es/No
person assodated with the purchaser under section 2A(1)(c) of the GST Act {(connected by blood relationship,
marriage, civil union, de facto relationship or adoption).

OR

The purchaser intends at settiement to use part of the property as a principal place of residence by the | Yes/No
purchaser or a person associated with the purchaser under section 2A(1)(c) of the GST Act.

That part Is:
{e.g. "the maln farmhouse” or "the apariment above the shop')

[ The purchaser intends fo direct the vendor fo transfar title to tha property to another party (*nomines”) Yes/No
If the answer to questlon 6 is 'Yes", then please vontinue. Otharwise, there is no need fo complete this Schedule any further.
Section 2

7 The neminee Is registered under the GST Act and/for Is expected by the purchaser to be so reglstered at Yes/No

sefttement.

8. The purchaser expects the nominge at settlement to use the propery for making taxable supplies. Yes/No
If the answer to either or both of questions 7 and & is 'No', there is no need to complets this Schedule any further.

9. The nomines's detalls (if known to.the purchaser) are as follows:

(8)  Full name:
(b) Address:

(¢) Registration number (if already registered):

10. The purchaser expecis the nominee to Intend at sefflement to use the properly as a principal place of | Yes/No
residence by the nominee or a person associated with the nominee under section ZA(1)(c) of the GST Act
{connected by blood ralailunship, marrlage, clvil union, de faclo relatlonship or adoption).

OR

The purchaser expects the hominee fo intend at settiement to use part of the property as a princlpal place of | ves/No
residence by the purchaser or a person assoclated with the purchaser under secllon 2A(1)(v) of the GST Act.
That part Is:

(e.9. "the maln farmhouse" or "the apartmenl above the shop").

WARNING (/e warning does not form part of this agreement)
This Is a binding contract. Read the information set out on the back pagr hefnra etnning.

Acknowledgements

Whera this agreemant relates to the sale of & resldential property and this agre ar?{ 1] pruuln‘a:f to the parties by a real estate agent, or
by a licenses on behalf of the agent, the parties acknowledge that they have be the aulflg ahoutdtwsale of resldential property
approved by the Real Estate Agents Authority.

Slgnature of vendor(s) Ve /Ridhntifa af sieehaser(s)

9(2)(a) privacy 9(2)(a) privacy

SRR T L T . AsmsmAmsrm A RE AR EsE T

------- e srm e . mawatESESaLIRS S ERERE RSN

NIK6411
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Ashley Taggart
Partner

Lane Neave
137 Victoria Street, Christchurch 8013
PO Box 2331, Christchurch 8140

NEW ZEALAND

voted the best
insurance lawyers
in New Zealand

From: Ashley Taggart

Sent: Monday, 29 September 2014 10:22 a.m.

To: 9(2)(a) privacy

Subject: 9(2)(a) privacy - Project and Investment Management Limited - 209 High Street, Christchurch
- PRO99(y1

) :
Dear2(2)(a) privacy

| expect t§ have both the fully signed Agreement and deposit by Wednesday this week. Accordingly, | would be grateful if
you could email to me your trust account deposit slip.
Kind regdfds
Ashley I'
i

\"
Ashley Tgggart
Partner c
Lane Nedve
137 Victoria Street, Christchurch 8013
PO Box 2331, Christchurch 8140

NEW ZEALAND
LAW AWARDS

9(2)(a) privacy
voted the best
insurance lawyers
in New Zealand
IMPORTANT NOTICES

The views expressed in this communication are not necessarily those of Lane Neave, unless stated otherwise.
This email and accompanying attachments contain information that is confidential and may be subject to legal
privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, you must not read, use, distribute or copy the contents of this
email. If you have received this email in error, please notify us immediately by reply email or collect telephone
to +64 3 379 3720 and delete the original email together with all attachments. Lane Neave does not accept
responsibility for: (a) any changes to this email or its attachments; or (b) for any attachments made by others,
after we have transmitted it.

Lane Neave does not represent or warrant that this email or files attached to this email are free from computer
viruses or other defects. Any attached files are provided, and may only be used, on the basis that the user
assumes all responsibility for any loss, damage or consequence resulting directly or indirectly from their use.
The liability of Lane Neave is limited in any event to either the re-supply of the attached files or the cost of
having the attached files re-supplied.
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BVL02.062

3.3.1.1 Full payment of $5.0m will be made.

3.3.1.29(2 agree to advance $2.0m to the venture, security is by way of a first
mortgage, unless 9( opt to exercise his right to convert part or all of the
$2.0m into share equity. The residual loan mortgage may be retired by
the 159 Ltd at any time simply by repayment. Terms and fair interest rate
to be determined.

4. Disclosure & Reporting

4.1

5. 9( will:
51

5.2
5.3
5.4
55

Parties agree to operate a “no surprises” policy and timely disclosure of pertinent
information at all times, including “open book” pricing and costing.

Make available all information in relation to the property relevant to the
engineering and operation of the building i

Assist with financial modelling

Assist with location and management of tenancies

Assist with all aspects of the building operation

Board representation on the 159 Ltd board if desired

6. PIM Ltd will:

61
6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Carryout project management and project oversight

Assemble a development plan with revenue and expense modelling
Location and management of tenancies

Carry out all aspects of the building operation

Directors representation on the 159 Ltd board if desired

Sourcing of investor funds

7. Commencement:

71

Signed

Position

Date

A Sale & Purchase agreement will be completed, with confirmation and deposit
to be paid within 60 working days. '

Signed
Position

Date

Page 2 of 5
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Company & Key Personnel

Company

Project & Investment Management Limited
9(2)(a) privacy :

Lawyers

Ashley Taggart
Lane Neave
Christchurch

Accountants

9(2)(a) privacy

Bank

Westpac Bank
9(2)(a)

privacy
Ashburton

Key Personnel

Murray Cleverley MBA, EEDI, NZIMF

Murray is a professional director and the General Manager for the Greater Christchurch
Investment Strategy in the Christchurch Central Development Unit.

Murray is a specialist in governance, economic development and change management. He is
an Associate Fellow of New Zealand Institute of Management, a member of the New Zealand
Institute of Directors and a life member of South Canterbury Chamber of Commerce.

Murray is currently chair of multiple companies and director of several businesses. He is
heavily involved in the health arena, currently Chairman of the South Canterbury District Health
Board, Deputy Chairman of NZ District Health Board and Trustee of Warbirds Over Wanaka,
Chairman of 7 years.

Page 4 of 5
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Or assistance.

Thank you & kind regards
Simon Nikoloff
Investment Facilitator

Greater Christchurch Investment Strategy
Christchurch Central Development Unit
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority - CERA
HSBC Building

62 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4999

Christchurch 8140

P:+64 3 3542600 ext: 30902

M: 9(2)(a) privacy

E: simon.nikoloffiaicera.govi.nz

W: www.cera.govtnz

-----Original Message-----

From: MFD ScanToEmail

Sent: Monday, 20 October 2014 8:03 a.m.
To: Simon Nikoloff

Subject: Message from "cer08mfd02"

This E-mail was sent from "cer08mfd02" (Aficio MP C4501).

Scan Date: 20.10.2014 08:02:49 (+1300) -
Queries to: mid{@cera.govt.nz

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and subject to legal
privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or duplication
of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify
the author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury
Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this

message or attachments after transmission from CERA.

For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govi.nz.

<20141020080249782.pdf>
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Project: YHA Building

Use: Worker Accommodation

Location:
« 273 Manchester Street, Central Christchurch

Description:

* Former YHA hostel, 875 sgm two level steel reinforced concrete and wooden first
floor and trusses and iron roof building — purposed and consented for Back
Packer accommodation prior to 2011, Quake strengthened in early 2000,

¢ Building has damage due to earthquakes, will be up to usable code of at least
34% after strengthening and refurbishment program

= Up to 10 car park spaces under cover
Vehicle right of way on each side

Development Uses:

»  Worker Accommodation - Caveat over non backpacker use as condition of
purchase until 2019

» 55 bed rooms (160 beds) - potentially extra rooms able to be commissioned
replacing offices (up to 4 additional rooms possible)
Most rooms cater for 2+ people with several multi-bed rooms
Consented to accommodate 160 people — potential up to 175
Future use after 7 to 10 years either resort to Backpacker or mixed use
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Consenting / Development Approvals:
* Requires approximately $1.5M on strengthening, and improvements,
to achieve minimum of 34% NBS - estimate 3 months’ work
Consenting allows building to be reinstated for former use under the CERA Act
* Consent includes use as Workers Accommodation
Potential for Café open to public in foyer = CCC Urban Regeneration Centre
support ’ ) ’

Worker Accommodation Demands
» Research confirms there need for additional worker beds, Identified
approximately 1,200 beds required in early 2015
« Two clients confirm need for 130 beds by end of March 2015

Revenue

» Lease on accommodation

« |Lease on Café option developed

o Total Revenue estimates are between $500k GST exclusive (plus OPEX).

Price

* $5m

« Turnkey fully operational building

e Improvements plus project management included in cost

Shareholding
= On offer a shareholding of minimum 60% ($3m)
e Project & Investment Management Limited balance

Structure
s A new entity 273 Manchester St Limited will be formed to take ownership of the
completed building. The shareholdings on offer are in this entity. ’

Returns
* Returns expected 8% - 10%
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Investment Option

Option 1

Buy out of completed refurbished building, turn-key with tenant $5.0m. Rent Roll $550k per
year plus OPEX, providing an 8.5% -10% return.

Option 2
Partnership — offering a 60% shareholding ($3.0m) in partnership with PIMCo (40%).

Option 3

Hold, use bank funding sought to release capital after building completed and tenanted (up
to 50%).

Option 4

Partner to provide funding only ($3.0) for 12 months, Interest Rate 15% payable 12 months
with first security offered.

Exi 2

1. Hold as is — take 8.5% to 10% retumn
2. Hold and release capital - refinance at bank (50%)});
3. Sell out at completion '
4. Sell out tenanted taking increases value 2-5 years

Primary Contact

PIMCo Director

Simon Nikoloff

Email simon@ 9(2)(a) privacy
Mob 9(2)(a)
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----- Original Message-----

From: Kevin Maloney9

Sent: Tuesday, 2 December 2014 9:02 a.m.
To: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: Ewen McKenzie contact details
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Project: YHA Building

Use: Worker Accommodation

Location:
~» 273 Manchester Street, Central Christchurch

Description:

« Former YHA hostel, 875 sgm two level steel reinforced concrete and wooden first
floor and trusses and iron roof building - purposed and consented for Back
Packer accommodation prior to 2011. Quake strengthened in early 2000.

¢ Building has damage due to earthquakes, will be up to usable code of at least
34% after strengthening and refurbishment program

e Up to 10 car park spaces under cover

s Vehicle right of way on each side

Development Uses:

* Worker Accommodation — Caveat over non backpacker use as condition of
purchase until 2019

e 55 bed rooms (160 beds) - potentially extra rooms able to be commissioned
replacing offices (up to 4 additional rooms possible)
Most rooms cater for 2+ people with several multi-bed rooms
Consented to accommodate 160 people - potential up to 175
Future use after 7 to 10 years either resort to Backpacker or mixed use
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nvestment Options

Option 1

Buy out of completed refurbished building, turn-key with tenant $5.0m. Rent Roll $550k per
year plus OPEX, providing an 8.5% -10% return.

Option 2
Partnership — offering a 60% shareholding ($3.0m) in partnership with PIMCo (40%).

Option 3

Hold, use bank funding sought to release capital after building completed and tenanted (up
to 50%). ) ' '

Option 4

Partner to provide funding only ($3.0) for 12 months, Interest Rate 15% payable 12 months
with first security offered.

Exit opti

1. Hold as is — take 8.5% to 10% return

2. Hold and release capital - refinance at bank (50%);
3. Sell out at completion

4. Sell out tenanted taking increases value 2-5 years

Primary Contact

PIMCo Director

Simon Nikoloff

Email simon@9(2)(a) privacy
Mob 9(2)(a) privacy
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9(2)(a) privacy
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have been doing their numbers on it over the past weeks so we remain positive that ane of these will come
through on Wednesday. '

Will keep in touch
Gerard

Gerard Gallagher

Investment Facilitator

Christchurch Central Development Unit (CCDU)
Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority (CERA}
52 Worcester Boulevard

Private Bag 4989, Christchurch 8140

M. 9(2)(a)

Do 03 3%20 a71

£ gerard.gallagher@cera.govt.nz
WA WWW.CEra.govi.nz

From: Mark Wells 9(2)(a) privacy

Sent: Monday, 24 November 2014 10:57 a.m.
To: Gerard Gallagher

Subject: Manchester Street

Hi Gerard
How are things looking for later this week ... re Manchester St??
Regards

Mark

"This communication, including any attachmenits, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact me immediataly,
destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it, Thank you. Please note that this communication does not
designate an information system for the purposes of the Electronic Transactions Act 2002."

m=mmmmmmmmmameemeemeeeamem----= This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and
subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or
duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the
author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery
Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission
from CERA., For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govi.nz.

"This communication, incduding any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact me immediately,
destroy it, and do not copy or use any part of this communication or disclose anything about it. Thank you. Please note that this communication does not
designate an information system for the purpeses of the Electronic Transactions Act 2002."

This email and any attachments may contain information that is confidential and
subject to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, distribution or
duplication of this email and attachments is prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the
author immediately and erase all copies of the email and attachments. The Canterbury Earthquake Recovery
Authority (CERA) accepts no responsibility for changes made to this message or attachments after transmission
from CERA. For further information about CERA, please visit www.cera.govt.nz.

"This communication, including any attachments, is confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, you should not read it - please contact me immediately,
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Lane Neave Accounts

BVL01.147

Project Notes Amount Who pays Action !
273 Manchester YHA site Company formation | $3,339,50 PIMCO Murray C to get repaid from
&Sale & Purch agreement Kevin Malone (finders fee?)
120 Manchester 9(2)(a) privacy - -
Sale & Purch
agreement
Offer on table
177 High St Billings. Offer on table $835 9(2)(a) GG/SN to talk to 9(2)
75 Carlton Mill Rd S&P agreement - first $520 PIMCO None
l option preserved
207/209 High St Kennett House $1,015 9(2) Ensure full transfer of
contract has taken place
159 Hereford $1,422 PIMCO None
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In accordance with Principle 7 of the Privacy Act 1993, the statement on the following page
received from Mr Gallagher and Mr Nikoloff is attach to the Report.



We, Simon Nikoloff and Gerard Gallagher seek correction of the following personal information
held by the State Services Commission (and other agencies with whom our personal
information has been shared):

Dated at Christchurc

There was not a serious and sustained breach of the standards by which we were
employed at CERA.

CERA hired us because they needed our extensive private business networks,
knowledge and commercial expertise — expertise and connections that CERA did not
have.

When we commenced with CERA, there was no induction or on-going
counselling/training programme and we were not given a copy of the CERA Code of
Conduct.

We were advised that we were entitled to continue to pursue various business interests,
including business interests we disclosed on commencement of employment, as long as
they did not conflict with CERA’s work. While Mr Heron says the documentation appears
to be in conflict with that position, it is not unusual for an employee to have
documentation that is inconsistent with the culture or requirements of the workplace.
There is no evidence that contradicts what we were led to believe by CERA, that is, we
were entitled to pursue private interests that did not conflict with CERA work.

Our position is consistent with the Auditor-General’'s concerns in his report into CERA and
with the work environment generally (see paragraphs 3.36 — 3.38 of Mr Heron's Report).
We were expected to introduce investors, including our own networks, to private property
opportunities in the city and we did so. We value our networks and always acted properly
and professionally. There was no conflict of interest with CERA’s work.

We relied on publicly available information as well as our own private information in any
private business activity. We did not use CERA's confidential information.

We did not invest in any properties.

We have always had potential investors in any project that we sought to pursue — their
identity often needs to be confidential at the beginning.

We have worked with many local and overseas investors and we have been highly
effective in promoting the Central City Recovery Plan, which we understood was vital to
the recovery of Christchurch, and attracting and securing investment that has advanced
the rebuild and recovery of the CBD. We received positive work performance reports as
we met all of our key performance indicators.

We disclosed information of our private transactions to CERA's in-house lawyers and to
our own lawyers, who also acted for CERA. We were open about the business we were
doing amongst staff and management at CERA and we trusted these people to counsel
us if we needed to take any further steps in respect of our roles at CERA. We believe the
chronology of events we supplied, as referenced at paragraph 4.63 of Mr Heron's report,
puts into doubt Ms Noble’s recollection of events.

At no time have we obtained personal gain for CERA related activities.

We have fully engaged with this investigation which is consistent with there not being a
serious and sustained breach of the standards by which we were employed at CERA and
is consistent with our public duty.

11t day of April 2017 kg

L

‘——‘——-—-_......_.._.2 ............
Simon Nikoloff

Gérard Gallagher

KTD-143155-2-284-V1





